MARGARET  STROUP  v. CENTRAL PENINSULA GENERAL HOSPITAL

[image: image1.png]


ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	MARGARET  STROUP, 

                                               Employee, 

                                               Petitioner

                                                   v. 

CENTRAL PENINSULA GENERAL 

HOSPITAL,

                                               Employer,

                                                   and 

LIBERTY MUTUAL MIDDLE MARKET

and LIBERTY NORTHWEST 

INSURANCE CORPORATION,

                                               Insurer,

                                               Respondent.
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	INTERLOCUTORY and FINAL

DECISIONS AND ORDERS

AWCB Case No.  200819837
AWCB Decision No.  12-0103
Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska 

on June 14, 2012


Margaret Stroup’s petition alleging a misuse of medical releases and seeking to compel return of medical records and for sanctions was heard on April 18, 2012.  Also heard were Employer’s petitions to compel production of photographs and video recordings, and to exclude specific physician and other reports unless Employer is provided an opportunity to cross-examine the reports’ authors.  Attorney Eric Croft represents Margaret Stroup (Ms. Stroup or Claimant).   Attorney Robin Gabbert represents employer Central Peninsula General Hospital (CPH) and its insurer Liberty Mutual Middle Market and Liberty Northwest Insurance Corporation (Liberty), collectively “Employer.”  Ms. Stroup attended telephonically and testified.  Keyhill Sheorn, M.D., testified telephonically for Employer.

On April 30, 2012, the parties filed a Partial Compromise & Release Agreement (C&R) resolving indemnity issues, vocational rehabilitation, and reimbursement for personal attendant care services, but leaving medical and related benefits to be determined. The C&R also left unaddressed Ms. Stroup’s request for accrued attorney fees and costs. 

At a May 7, 2012 prehearing conference it was agreed Ms. Stroup’s request for attorney fees and costs would be heard on May 9, 2012.  As a preliminary matter at the start of the May 9, 2012 hearing Employer objected to attorney Michael Schneider’s affidavit and testimony, contending his affidavit contained misinformation, and his testimony was irrelevant to an attorney fees and cost award in this case.  The objection was overruled.  Mr. Schneider was permitted to testify, with the weight accorded his testimony subject to board determination.  Also testifying were financial planner Garrett Wong, Eric Croft and paralegal Patty Jones. Employer also objected to counsel’s Supplemental Affidavit of Time and Costs as untimely filed.  The supplemental affidavit was accepted for filing with its admission and any consideration it would be accorded taken under advisement.  The record for both hearings closed on May 14, 2012, when the panel completed its deliberations.  

The decision and orders herein pertaining to discovery and evidentiary matters are interlocutory orders.  The decision and orders concerning attorney fees and costs are final orders.

ISSUES

Claimant contends Employer obtained medical records outside the scope of authorized medical releases, and used unauthorized information obtained to gain advantage in this litigation.  She contends Employer’s retention and use of those records violates the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act (Act) and her constitutional right to privacy, and asks Employer be ordered to account for unauthorized records obtained, return them to Claimant, and for imposition of sanctions against Employer.  

Employer argues records obtained from medical providers who disclosed records outside the scope of authorized medical releases resulted from errors by Claimant’s physicians, not by unauthorized Employer conduct.  It contends that some medical records received proved relevant to issues in dispute, and were appropriately filed on medical summaries.  Employer further contends the board has no authority to impose sanctions.

1.
Should Employer be ordered to return to Ms. Stroup medical records obtained which exceeded the scope of the authorized releases utilized to obtain them, and sanctioned for its conduct obtaining them?

Employer contends it is entitled to receive from Ms. Stroup photographs and video recordings of her activities since the date of injury, contending they are relevant to her claims for permanent total disability benefits (PTD) and medical benefits for post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD).  

Ms. Stroup contends Employer’s request fails to adequately articulate a nexus between the images sought and Ms. Stroup’s claims, is overbroad, and is an inappropriate violation of her constitutional right to privacy.

2.
Should Ms. Stroup be compelled to release photographs and video recordings in her possession containing her image and reflecting her activities since the date of injury?  

Employer contends certain of Claimant’s treating physicians’ opinions were converted from opinions concerning treatment, to statements of advocacy written, drafted and influenced by her counsel, and as a result certain treating physicians’ medical records generated after receiving allegedly influential letters from Claimant’s counsel should be excluded from evidence, unless and until Claimant produces those witnesses for cross-examination.  Employer also objects to an October 5, 2011 record from Jessie A. Arthur, M.A., and a September 30, 2011 employment record from Stephen Givens, Chief Operating Officer (COO) at Johnson Memorial Hospital, Ms. Stroup’s former employer.  

Claimant concedes that while particular opinions by treating physicians may be subject to Smallwood
 objections, that does not justify removing all subsequent medical records from consideration.  She contends treating physicians’ medical records are admissible under the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act (Act), as well as under the medical records and business records exceptions to the general evidence rule excluding hearsay evidence.  Claimant further contends the parties should be required to file their witness lists simultaneously, and she should not be required to identify her hearing witnesses in advance of Employer’s witness disclosure.   

3.
Should the identified medical records generated by Drs. Ochberg, Miller, Heniford, McGarry, Denton, Bramante, Strawbridge, and Jessie Arthur, M.A. be excluded from evidence unless Claimant makes them available for cross-examination?  Should the September 30, 2011 employment record authored by Stephen Givens, COO, be excluded unless Claimant makes him available for cross-examination? 

Employer contends counsel’s supplemental affidavit of time and costs, filed at the May 9, 2012 hearing, was untimely under 8 AAC 45.180(d)(1), and counsel waived any right to fees in excess of the statutory minimum as a result of the untimely filing.  Claimant contends her counsel’s supplemental affidavit of fees was filed timely, and her right to full and reasonable attorney fees was not waived.

4.
Did Claimant waive her right to fees in excess of the statutory minimum by untimely filing her supplemental affidavit of time and costs?

Claimant contends her attorneys are entitled to an award of actual fees and costs, the entries on the affidavits of time and costs were reasonable, and a full award of fees and costs totaling $153,165.84 is appropriate.  Employer contends counsel’s affidavits of time and costs exceed those reasonable under the circumstances, contain entries reflecting non-compensable duplication and triplication of effort, effort for issues on which Claimant did not prevail, unnecessary and inappropriate work done, and premature billing for issues which have not yet been decided.  Employer contends Claimant should be awarded no more than $69,278.52 in attorney fees and costs.

5.
What is a reasonable award of attorney fees and costs for Ms. Stroup’s counsel through the date of the May 9, 2012 hearing?

FINDINGS OF FACT

The following facts and factual conclusions are established by a preponderance of the evidence:

1) On November 26, 2008, Claimant, the Director of Imaging at Central Peninsula General Hospital (CPH) in Soldotna, Alaska, was shot twice with an assault rifle, in the abdomen and right breast, by a disgruntled former employee.  A co-worker was killed.  The perpetrator was shot and killed in an exchange of gunfire with police as he exited the hospital.  Claimant suffered massive physical injuries and blood loss, and received critical care at CPH, Providence Alaska Medical Center (PAMC) in Anchorage, and Harborview Medical Center (HMC) in Seattle.  (CPH Emergency Dept. Note, November 26, 2008; record; Stroup v. Central Peninsula General Hospital, AWCB Decision No. 11-0159 (November 3, 2011)(Stroup I) at Finding of Fact 1).

2) On March 11, 2011, Claimant filed an initial workers’ compensation claim (WCC or claim) seeking a compensation rate unaffected by any geographic cost of living adjustment (COLA).  (Claim, March 11, 2011).

3) On April 7, 2011, Employer controverted payment of indemnity benefits without application of a COLA unless Claimant was absent from Alaska for medical treatment not reasonably available in Alaska.  (Controversion Notice, filed April 7, 2012).

4) On or about April 14, 2011, Claimant retained The Crofts Law Office.  On April 21, 2011, Eric Croft entered his appearance on Claimant’s behalf and filed an amended WCC seeking medical and indemnity related benefits including permanent total disability (PTD) benefits, attorney fees and costs.  (Entry of Appearance, April 21, 2011; Affidavit of Time and Costs, April 13, 2012).
5) Between April 7, 2011 and April 18, 2012, Employer filed 10 Controversion Notices, including controversions for payment of indemnity benefits without application of a COLA, and PTD. (Controversion Notices filed April 7, 2011, May 16, 2011, December 12, 2011, December 15, 2011, February 6, 2012, February 9, 2012, March 30, 2012, and April 18, 2012).
6) Between May 12, 2011 and May 7, 2012, eleven prehearing conferences were held. (Record).
7) To date four depositions have been conducted, including those of Claimant and her husband, a records custodian, and of Jeffrey Miller, M.D. (Record).
8) Employer has arranged employer medical evaluations (EME) of Ms. Stroup with five different physicians, who have produced multiple initial and follow-up reports.  (Record).
9) More than forty-five medical summaries containing medical records from a vast number of treating physicians and other medical providers, and filling more than two bankers’ boxes, have been filed.  The case file currently fills four bankers’ boxes.  (Id.).
10) On June 30, 2011,  in the regular course of informal discovery, Ms. Stroup signed consent forms allowing her medical providers to release to Employer:

Any medical reports or information in your possession or control regarding Margaret Stroup which relates to any injury to, evaluation of, or problems related to: [1] The intra-abdominal/gastrointestinal system; [2] breasts; [3] hernia; [4] right shoulder /upper extremity; [5] right knee/lower extremity; [6] hips; [7] arthritis/arthragias; [8] diabetes or prediabetic conditions; [9] rheumatological,  inflammatory, or autoimmune disorders; [10] reflux, swallowing, or other problems with the throat; [11] sinus problems; [12] dizziness/vertigo and/or hearing loss; [13] and mental or emotional issues from November 2006 through the present, and [14] sleep apnea and related conditions from 2000 to present.  

(Enumeration and underscore added). (Original signed medical release form; Prehearing Conference Summary, November 3, 2011).  Using this release, Employer requested medical records from Claimant’s physicians.  (Affidavit of Teresa Reed, March 28, 2012).  A records custodian from Abingdon (Virginia) Physician Partners, the group with which Ms. Stroup’s primary care physician and gynecologist, Wendy Strawbridge, M.D., practices, provided medical records in response, stating:  “These are the only reports I have from 2006-2011 that were requested.  I may have sent reports that were not mention (sic) in the release form.  (Letter from Debra Salyer, October 7, 2011). 

11) On June 14, 2011, Claimant’s counsel sent a letter to James W. Denton, M.D., Claimant’s then treating vascular surgeon in Abingdon, Virginia.  Because the letter’s contents provide the basis for Employer’s petition to exclude Dr. Denton’s records from evidence, it is recited here.

Dear Dr. Denton

I represent Ms. Stroup in her Alaska Workers’ Compensation claim for injuries from her attempted murder in 2008 during which she was shot twice.  To date the insurer has been paying her benefits, including all medical treatment.

A copy of Ms. Stroup’s HIPPA medical information release is attached.  If there is a fee for your services please contact my office and we will make immediate payment.

She greatly appreciates the care you have provided for her.  She is in Alaska now to try to get a resolution to her case.

Her case is a tragic and complex combination of physical and psychological impacts; the physical injuries from the event itself, the complications from the cumulative effects of her multiple surgeries, and the psychological impacts of being targeted, stalked and shot twice.

While we have only begun the process of compiling the massive number of medical records in this case, it is clear that she has a variety of medical conditions all related to her 2008 injury.  Even the doctors hired by the insurance company have concluded that her various conditions stem from the shooting or complications from it.  Dr. Gregory Chan, the otolaryngologist hired by the insurance company, linked her hearing loss, vocal cord polyps, gastroesophageal reflux, chronic sinus infections, vertigo, and the aggravation of her sleep apnea to the shooting.  Other doctors hired by the insurance company found Margaret’s joint pain, shoulder, and knee conditions to be causally-related to the shooting.

Her psychologist Dr. Brill concluded on 4/21/11 that “there appears to be no doubt that she is in serious need of further treatment for the symptoms of PTSD which she continues to describe.”  It is not clear what impact returning to the state and the areas of her attempted murder will have on her and how much longer she can stay.  She suffers from a variety of psychological symptoms from the shooting, including lack of sleep, nervousness in crowds, worry about sitting with her back to a door, and other symptoms.

Margaret believes that the combination of all of her symptoms means that she is disabled.  In Alaska, for workers’ compensation purposes “total disability does not necessarily mean a state of abject helplessness . . . [but rather it] means the inability because of injuries to perform services other than those which are so limited in quality, dependability or quantity that a reasonably stable market for them does not exist.”  J.B. Warrack Co. v. Roan, 418 P.2d 986 (Alaska 1966).  

I intend to ask each of her individual specialists to describe the limitations and effects of the considerations they treated Margaret for and also to attempt to describe the cumulative effects of all of the conditions on her ability to return to work.  If you need more information to answer these questions or if there is any question you have, please feel free to contact me.

On more technical matters, you should get prompt payment from the workers’ compensation insurance company if you comply with the requirements that you give the Board and the insurance company prompt notice of medical treatment with supporting documents.  You may be entitled to a penalty of 25% for late payments from the insurance company.  While I only represent Margaret, my office would be glad to assist you in getting prompt payment of your bills.

Finally, you may be contacted by the insurance company in this case, Liberty Northwest, or by their attorneys.  Subject to the privacy rights of your patients, you can talk to anyone you choose.  Sometimes, the insurance company sends a letter to the treating doctors asking for their opinion on aspects of the case.  In those letters, the insurance company may give you only a partial statement of the facts and may omit portions of the relevant law.  In rare cases, they may misstate the law or facts.  If you respond on partial or misleading information, it can lead to confusion, extra expense, and may delay Ms. Stroup’s recovery of benefits.  Therefore, on behalf of your patient Ms. Stroup, I request that you forward any communication from the insurance company in this case and allow us the opportunity to comment before you decide whether and how to respond to it.  If the insurance company asks to talk to you in person or by telephone, we would like to participate.

The letter then asked Dr. Denton eight questions:  for what conditions has he treated Ms. Stroup, what is his current diagnosis of those conditions, whether the November 26, 2008 assault, including the effects of any treatment or complications from the assault, is the substantial cause of Ms. Stroup’s condition, and whether he recommends any further diagnostic studies or test to evaluate Ms. Stroup for conditions for which he is treating her.  After providing the definition of “medical stability” in AS 23.30.395(27), question five asked whether Ms. Stroup is medically stable or needs additional treatment.  

The letter further asked Dr. Denton to describe any of the psychological or cognitive impacts of the 2008 assault he has observed during his treatment of Ms. Stroup, and considering all effects of which he was aware from the 2008 assault, whether he believed Ms. Stroup could work regularly 8 hours a day, 5 days a week, for a full year, and whether he believed, given Ms. Stroup’s limitations, there was a steady, readily available market for her services.  Employer did not append to its pleading any response from Dr. Denton to this fill-in-the-blank, check-the-box format questionnaire, or cite a medical summary on which a response had been filed. No response from Dr. Denton to counsel’s letter and questionnaire has been located in the case file. (Employer Request for Cross-Examination, February 2, 2012, Exhibit 5; Record).

12)   On August 4, 2011, John P. Bramante, M.D., Claimant’s treating internist in Soldotna, Alaska, authored a letter “To Whom it May Concern,” stating Ms. Stroup’s “medical and mental health issues are thoroughly outlined in the medical record and are justification for the conclusion that she is not ready to return to work on either a part or full time basis.  She has both physical and emotional issues that prevent her from doing so.”  This letter was filed on an Employee Medical Summary on September 8, 2011, having been served on Employer by mail on September 2, 2011.  Employer did not file a Request for Cross-Examination of Dr. Bramante with respect to this note until November 17, 2011. (Letter, August 4, 2011; Medical Summary, dated September 2, 2011; Request for Cross-Examination, dated November 16, 2011).
13) On August 16, 2011, the parties signed a Stipulation by which Employer agreed not to reduce Ms. Stroup’s compensation rate by applying an out of state COLA until a then-scheduled board hearing was held on December, 2011, in return for Claimant withdrawing her request for an “Emergency Hearing” on the issue.  When the December hearing was continued the parties again stipulated to continue this agreement.  (Stipulations, August 16, 2011, November 15, 2011).

14) On September 22, 2011, Employer made a written settlement offer.  In its letter Employer recapped its “extensive review of the medical records.” Some of the medical records Employer discussed in the letter included records which dated farther back in time than the authorized medical release in effect at that time.  (Letter from Gabbert to Croft, September 22, 2011). 

15)   On September 23, 2011, Claimant’s counsel wrote to Dr. Bramante.  Because this letter forms the basis for Employer’s petition to exclude Dr. Bramante’s records from evidence, the contents of this letter are provided:

Dear Dr. Bramante

I represent Ms. Stroup in her Alaska Workers’ Compensation claim for injuries from her attempted murder in 2008 during which she was shot twice.

She greatly appreciates the care you have provided for her.  She is in Alaska now to try to get a resolution to her case.

Her case is a tragic and complex combination of physical and psychological impacts; the physical injuries from the event itself, the complications from the cumulative effects of her multiple surgeries, and the psychological impacts of being targeted, stalked and shot twice.

Margaret believes that the combination of all of her symptoms means that she is permanently and totally disabled.  In Alaska, for workers’ compensation purposes “total disability does not necessarily mean a state of abject helplessness . . . [but rather it] mean (sic) the inability because of injuries to perform services other than those which are so limited in quality, dependability or quantity that a reasonably stable market for them does not exist.”  J.D. Warrack Co. v. Roan, 418 P.2d 986 (Alaska 1966).

Attached to this letter are eight questions I would appreciate your answering and faxing back to my office.

A copy of Ms. Stroup’s HIPPA medical information release is attached.  If there is a fee for your services please contact my office and we will make immediate payment.

The letter then posed eight questions calling for fill-in-the-blank or check-the-box responses.  Dr. Bramante responded on October 14, 2011.  Question one asked Dr. Bramante for what conditions he has treated Ms. Stroup.  Dr. Bramante responded “PTSD, dyspnea,
 restrictive lung (unintelligible), abdominal pain, musculoskeletal pain, GSW
 2008.”  Question two asked Dr. Bramante his current diagnoses of those conditions.  Dr. Bramante replied “PTSD, intestinal adhesion, Reiter Syndrome.”  Question three asked if the November 26, 2008 assault, including the effects of any treatment or complications from the assault, were the substantial cause of Ms. Stroup’s current condition.  Dr. Bramante checked “Yes.”  Question four asked if Dr. Bramante recommended any further diagnostic studies or tests to further evaluate the conditions for which he was treating Ms. Stroup.  Dr. Bramante checked “No.” 

After reciting the definition of “medical stability” in AS 23.30.395(27), question five asked Dr. Bramante if, for the conditions he was treating her, was Ms. Stroup was medically stable.   Dr. Bramante responded that she was medically stable “for some of diagnoses,” but “not for the main diagnosis – PTSD.”  In response to question six, where Dr. Bramante was asked to describe any of the psychological or cognitive impacts of the 2008 assault he has observed during his treatment of Ms. Stroup, Dr. Bramante referred the reader to his chart notes, but noted “anxiety, palpitations, depression, panic.”  Questions seven and eight asked Dr. Bramante whether, after considering all of the effects Ms. Stroup experienced from the 2008 assault, including the conditions for which he provided treatment, and any other conditions of which he was aware, he believed Ms. Stroup could work regularly 8 hours a day, 5 days a week, for a full year, and if he believed that with Ms. Stroup’s limitations there was a steady, readily available market for her services.  To both questions seven and eight Dr. Bramante checked “No.”  Ms. Stroup filed and served this response on a Medical Summary on October 28, 2011.  (Letter to Dr. Bramante, September 23, 2011; Dr. Bramante Response, October 14, 2011; Medical Summary, October 28, 2011).  Employer timely filed a request to cross-examine Dr. Bramante on this document. (Employer Request for Cross-Examination, dated November 4, 2011).

16) On October 4, 2011, Employer timely filed a Request for Cross-Examination of a September 30, 2011 note, titled “Addendum to Personnel File, Margaret Stroup,” authored by COO Stephen K. Givens of Johnston Memorial Hospital in Virginia, Ms. Stroup’s employer prior to her employment with CPH, and pertaining to the circumstances of her terminating her employ there.  (Request for Cross-Examination, October 4, 2011).

17)  On October 6 and 12, 2011, Employer filed a number of petitions to compel production of documents, to which Claimant responded with petitions for protective orders.  Employer sought to compel Claimant’s signature on medical releases broader than those previously signed, including:

Any medical reports or information in your possession or control regarding Margaret Stroup which relates to any injury to, evaluation of, or problems related to: The intra-abdominal/gastrointestinal system from 1978 through present; breasts conditions from 2003 through present; hernia, right shoulder /upper extremity; right knee/lower extremity; hips; arthritis/arthragias from 2006 to present; diabetes or prediabetic conditions from 2005 to present; rheumatological, inflammatory, or autoimmune disorders; reflux, swallowing, or other problems with the throat; sinus problems; dizziness/vertigo and/or hearing loss from November 2006 to present; and mental or emotional issues from 2002 through the present and sleep apnea and related conditions from 2000 to present.

(Italics in original)(Employer Petition to Compel Pension and Travel Documents, December 5, 2011; Employer Petition to Compel Federal and Commonwealth of Virginia tax form, October 5, 2011; Prehearing Conference Summary, November 3, 2011).

18) On October 19, 2011, Claimant filed a petition to compel Employer to return medical records obtained which exceeded the scope of Mr. Stroup’s June 30, 2011 medical release. (Petition to Compel, October 19, 2011).

19) Also on October 19, 2011, Employer timely filed a Request for Cross-Examination of an October 9, 2011 letter addressed “to whom it may concern” from Dr Strawbridge, Ms. Stroup’s former, and perhaps current primary care physician and gynecologist in Abingdon, Virginia. The letter from Dr. Strawbridge, filed on an October 25, 2011 Medical Summary, summarized Dr. Strawbridge’s treatment of Ms. Stroup before and after the work injury. Dr. Strawbridge contrasted Ms. Stroup’s overall health and physical capacities prior to the work injury, with her diminished health following the injury.  Dr. Strawbridge’s letter discussed medications she has prescribed for Ms. Stroup, the conditions those prescriptions were intended to address, and offered opinions concerning Ms. Stroup’s current state of health. The full content of Dr. Strawbridge’s letter is incorporated herein by reference.  (Request for Cross-Examination, October 19, 2011).

20) On October 20, 2011, Employer filed a timely Request for Cross-Examination of Jessie Arthur, M.A., apparently with Peninsula Internal Medicine of Soldotna, Alaska, concerning an October 5, 2011 “Orders Note” authored by Jessie Arthur.  That note includes a diagnosis of PTSD, and refers Ms. Stroup to psychiatrist Frank Ochberg, M.D.  (Medical Summary, October 13, 2011; Request for Cross-Examination, October 20, 2011).

21) At a November 3, 2011 prehearing conference, the board designee issued numerous orders addressing the parties’ pending petitions.  The designee:

a)  Granted Employer’s October 5, 2011 petition to compel Ms. Stroup to list all of her interstate travel since the work injury;

b) Denied Employer’s October 5, 2011 petition to compel Ms. Stroup to produce information regarding her pensions;

c) Granted Ms. Stroup’s petition for a petition for a protective order to the extent Employer sought medical records regarding all mental or emotional issues from 2002 to present. Ms. Stroup was ordered to sign a release for records regarding anxiety, stress, or panic disorder only, from 2002 to present;

d)  Granted Ms. Stroup’s petition for a protective order to the extent Employer sought to obtain medical records relating to diabetes or “prediabetes” prior to November 2006; 

e)  Granted Ms. Stroup’s petition for a protective order to the extent Employer sought medical records relating to Ms. Stroup’s breasts prior to November 2006; 

f)   To the extent it relates to abdominal/gastrointestinal records, Ms. Stroup’s petition for a protective order was denied, and Ms. Stroup was ordered to sign a release that included records of intra-abdominal/gastrointestinal conditions going back to 1978;  

g)  To the extent Employer’s second set of medical releases sought information concerning numerous medical conditions from “2006,” Ms. Stroup’s objection that the releases should be limited to “from November 2006” was agreed to by the parties and ordered; 

h)    To the extent Employer sought to compel all supporting forms and schedules for Ms. Stroup’s  2009 and 2010 federal income tax returns, the petition was granted in part and denied in part.  Ms. Stroup was ordered to produce Schedules C & E only;

(i)   Denied Employer’s petition to compel production of Ms. Stroup’s state of Virginia tax returns. (Prehearing conference summary, November 3, 2011).

22) The board designee ordered Claimant to sign revised medical releases:
limited to records or information from November 2006 for hernia, right shoulder /upper extremity; right knee/lower extremity; hips; arthritis/arthragias; rheumatological, inflammatory, or autoimmune disorders; reflux, swallowing, or other problems with the throat; sinus problems; dizziness/vertigo and/or hearing loss; 

records regarding anxiety, stress, or panic disorder only, from 2002 to present; and

intra-abdominal/gastrointestinal conditions going back to 1978.  

(Prehearing conference summary, November 3, 2011).

23) Employer conceded at hearing it obtained medical records in response to medical releases which it has not filed on medical summaries because they were not relevant to the issues for hearing.  There is no evidence these records have been returned to Ms. Stroup. (Hearing record).  

24) Three hearings have been held in this case to date, on October 12, 2011, April 18, 2012 and May 9, 2012. (Record). 
25) The first issue heard in this case, on October 12, 2011, was Claimant’s petition to quash an EME Employer scheduled with psychiatrist Keyhill Sheorn, M.D.  Claimant alleged the examination was an excessive change of physician, violating AS 23.30.095.   Employer prevailed on that preliminary issue and Claimant was ordered to attend the EME.  (Stroup v. Central Peninsula General Hospital, AWCB Decision No. 11-0159, November 3, 2011)(Stroup I).  A petition for reconsideration was denied.  (Stroup v. Central Peninsula General Hospital, AWCB Decision No. 11-0171, December 7, 2011)(Stroup II).  
26) On November 9, 2011, Employer timely filed a Request for Cross-Examination of an October 19, 2011 medical record authored by Jeffrey L. Miller, M.D., Ms. Stroup’s treating rheumatologist in Tampa, Florida.  The contents of Dr. Miller’s deposition are incorporated herein by reference.  Dr. Miller opined Ms. Stroup’s reactive arthritis was the result of infections she developed following surgeries for injuries sustained during the shooting, and as a result it is unlikely she would be able to fulfill the requirements of 12 months continuous employment without unapproved absences.(Request for Cross-Examination, November 9, 2011; Dr. Miller deposition transcript at  31, 73).

27) On November 9, 2011, Ms. Stroup was examined by Dr. Sheorn for an EME.  In a 27-page report Dr. Sheorn ruled out PTSD as a diagnosis for Ms. Stroup, and concluded Claimant’s then current psychiatric diagnoses were Adjustment Disorder-Chronic, and Narcissistic Traits.  Dr. Sheorn opined that had she examined Claimant earlier in her recovery she would have diagnosed Anxiety Disorder Secondary to a Medical Condition, but once Claimant’s medical conditions resolved, her Axis 1 diagnosis shifted to Adjustment Disorder.  Dr. Sheorn noted, however, that “even this is generous, but given the degree of trauma she suffered, she should be somewhat affected by it. One might anticipate that her anxiety will diminish greatly when she is finished with the financial negotiations…”  Dr. Sheorn further opined Ms. Stroup has “two very strong” financial motivators to presenting herself as someone suffering PTSD.  Dr. Sheorn concluded that at the time she examined Ms. Stroup on November 9, 2011, “there is no evidence of a Post-traumatic Syndrome.”  She opined Ms. Stroup’s current mental status reflected “an element of a critogenic
 disorder,” and if a future psychiatric evaluation concluded Ms. Stroup indeed suffers PTSD “it might likely be iatrogenic.”
 (EME Report, Dr. Sheorn, November 9, 2011, at 22-26).
28) On November 18, 2011, Claimant’s counsel authored a letter to Frank Ochberg, M.D.  Because the contents of the letter form a basis for Employer’s petition to exclude Dr. Ochberg’s medical records from evidence, the contents of that letter are set forth here. 
Dear Dr. Ochberg:

Thank you for meeting with Margaret Stroup.

For a number of reasons, Margaret and I would like to request that you serve as Margaret’s primary physician for psychological issues.  First, in workers compensation case (sic), it is accepted and even common for the treating physician to give his or her opinion on causation at the hearing on the merits.  Second, Margaret finds it difficult to re-explain the shooting and its effects on her to new mental health professionals; each change placing another burden on her.  Third, your experience in this area is almost unmatched.  Fourth, Dr. Bramante, who is reviewing Margaret’s myriad physical symptoms, has referred to you on psychological matters.  Finally, because Margaret has waited so long to get appropriate care, I do not want her to have to wait any longer.  She is finally starting to get the PTSD treatment she needs.

Therefore, please provide PTSD and psychological treatment to Margaret.  Your time examining and treating Margaret should be billed to Liberty Northwest Insurance.  We can help you get these bills to the proper person in the proper form.  Your time at deposition, preparing to testify at hearing, or speaking to me about the case should be billed to me as a litigation expense.  Time spent answering this letter is also a litigation expense.

The opposing attorney, Robin Gabbert or other attorneys from Russell, Wagg in Alaska may try to contact you, usually by letter.  They are free to contact treating physicians although treating physicians are free to ignore these requests and give their answers only at deposition or hearing.  The defense is generally not free to contact an identified plaintiff expert.  If the opposing attorney writes you regarding your treatment of Margaret, you can decide if you want to respond or not, but I would request that you show us the letter first so that we can correct any errors of law or fact.

While experts in personal injury litigation sometimes issue reports, Alaska workers compensation is less formal.  The standard practice is to describe in a letter the standards under Alaska law and have the treating physician give their conclusions under these standards.  Even the doctors hired by the insurance company to defeat the injured workers claim typically respond to questions from the defense counsel in the written summary of their examination.  This practice allows the parties to define the issues according to the appropriate rules of law.  It also allows the Board to assess whether there is actually a dispute between the treating physician and the ones hired by the insurance company and to decide whether to order an independent medical examination.  

In forming your opinion and answering the following questions, please use the standard of a “reasonable degree of medical probability.”  This means your opinion is based on “a more probably than not” standard or that a conclusion is more than 50 percent probable.  Anything less than a 50 percent probability is a possibility.  In life, few things are absolutely certain and, from a legal point of view, the only requirement is that it be more likely than not.  If you cannot answer a question to a reasonable degree of medical probability, please answer the question, but indicate that it is a possibility, not a probability.

Please take the time to answer the questions below regarding your assessment of Margaret Stroup’s psychological condition . . .

(Letter to Dr. Ochberg, November 18, 2011).

29) On November 30, 2011, Dr. Ochberg provided a typewritten response to the questionnaire.  He opined Ms. Stroup exhibits numerous PTSD criteria and enumerated them, there is no evidence of pre-existing symptoms, mental illness or PTSD, her use of Xanax in the past was rare, psychological services are not reasonably available to Ms. Stroup in Alaska given the exacerbation of symptoms brought on when she made return trips here, and she is not currently able to work a regular work week due to PTSD and depression.  Dr. Ochberg also checked three boxes on the questionnaire, indicating his opinion the 2008 shooting was the substantial cause of the psychological symptoms Dr. Ochberg identified, Ms. Stroup suffered no significant preexisting symptoms, and psychological services are not reasonably available to Ms. Stroup in Alaska because living in Alaska interfered with her treatment.  (Dr. Ochberg response, November 30, 2011).  Employer timely filed a request to cross-examine Dr. Ochberg on this evaluation.  (Dr. Ochberg response, November 30, 2011; Employee Medical Summary, January 12, 2012; Employer Request for Cross-Examination, January 18, 2012).

30) On December 7, 2011, Claimant’s counsel authored a letter to Jeffrey L. Miller, M.D., Claimant’s rheumatologist in Tampa, Florida, including three “check-the-box” questions pertaining to Ms. Stroup’s physical condition, psychological condition and ability to return to work.  Again, because the contents of this letter form the basis for Employer’s petition to exclude Dr. Miller’s medical records from evidence, the contents of that letter are set forth here. 
Dear Dr. Miller:

I represent Margaret Stroup in her workers compensation case.

One of your medical reports has been used to deny benefits to Margaret.

One of the difficulties in this case is that Margaret has so many different injuries and surgeries and physicians that it is hard to get a complete picture of her overall condition.  Dr. John Bramante was asked to look at all of the medical evidence and make this overall determination.  He has determined that Margaret’s combination of physical symptoms means that she cannot compete with other able-bodied workers and work regularly 40 hours a week.  Dr. Frank Ochberg, a specialist in PTSD, has determined that Margaret is disabled due to her continued psychological reaction to the shooting.

On November 18, State of Alaska RBA designee Deborah Torgerson determined that Margaret can currently return to certain jobs she has held in the past 10 years.  In making her determination, Ms. Torgerson relied on your report but did not have the medical opinions of Dr. Bramante or Dr. Ochberg on Margaret’s disability.  I have attached her decision as well as your medical report relied upon by Ms. Torgerson.

Margaret is concerned that Ms. Torgerson my (sic, may) have misunderstood your opinion on her condition.  Please answer the following questions.  Thank you in advance for your time.

      #1:  Scope of Your Opinion on Her Physical Condition

Until Dr. Bramante was asked to consider all of Margaret’s conditions, most of her treating physicians have confined their opinion to their area of particular expertise.  For example, Margaret was required to see a panel of insurance industry doctors earlier this year and each limited their opinion to their specialty.  Ms. Torgerson appears to have taken your opinions as a statement addressing all of Margaret’s conditions and therefore a statement of her overall capacity to do certain jobs.

_____
MY OPINION IS LIMITED TO MY AREAS OF EXPERTISE AND IS NOT MEANT TO BE A GENERAL ASSESSMENT OF MARGARET’S CAPABILITIES IN LIGHT OF ALL OF HER PHYSICAL CONDITIONS AND LIMITATIONS.

_____
MY OPINION WAS AND IS MEANT TO BE A GENERAL ASSESSMENT OF MARGARET’S CAPABILITIES IN LIGHT OF ALL OF HER PHYSICAL CONDITIONS AND LIMITATIONS BOTH IN AND OUT OF MY AREAS OF EXPERTISE.

#2:  Margaret’s Psychological Condition

Dr. Frank Ochberg has determined that Margaret cannot return to work due to the continued PTSD symptoms Margaret experiences, including panic attacks, difficulty in crowds or with strangers, worry about her safety, and nightmares.  Please clarify whether your medical opinion included an assessment of Margaret’s psychological condition.

_____
MY OPINION INCLUDED A PROFESSIONAL ASSESSMENT OF THE PSYCHOLOGICAL IMPACT OF THE SHOOTING ON MARGARET AND ON HER ABILITY TO RETURN TO WORK.

_____
MY OPINION DID NOT INCLUDE A PROFESSIONAL ASSESSMENT OF THE PSYCHOLOGICAL IMPACT OF THE SHOOTING ON MARGARET AND ON HER ABILITY TO RETURN TO WORK.

#3:  MARGARET’S ABILITY TO RETURN TO WORK

I HAVE ATTACHED A COPY OF Ms. Torgerson’s determination that Margaret can return to work as a radiologist technician or radiologic administrator for your comments.

________________________________________________________________________  

________________________________________________________________________  

________________________________________________________________________   

Employer did not append to any of its pleadings any response from Dr. Miller to this questionnaire, or cite a medical summary on which a response had been filed.  No response from Dr. Miller has been located in the case file. (Letter to Dr. Miller, December 7, 2011; Employer Request for Cross-Examination, February 2, 2012, Exhibit 6).

31)  On December 7, 2011, Claimant’s counsel sent the identical letter sent to Dr. Miller to Brant Todd Heniford, M.D., Claimant’s treating abdominal surgeon in Charlotte, North Carolina.  Employer did not append to its pleading any response from Dr. Heniford to the questionnaire, or cite a medical summary on which a response had been filed.  No response from Dr. Heniford has been located in the case file. (Employer Request for Cross-Examination, February 2, 2012, Exhibit 3; Letter to Dr. Heniford, December 7, 2011).

32) On December 7, 2011, Claimant’s counsel also sent the identical letter to Timothy G. McGarry M.D., Claimant’s treating orthopedic surgeon.  In his check-the-box and fill-in-the-blank reply, Dr. McGarry noted his previous opinion concerning Ms. Stroup’s ability to return to work was limited to his area of expertise, orthopedics, was not meant to be a general assessment of her capabilities in light of all of her physical conditions and limitations, and did not include a professional assessment of the psychological impact of the shooting on Ms. Stroup and on her ability to return to work.  He added:  “My comments were solely based on her orthopedic evaluation on that date.  I do not feel pt. will be able to return to previous employment in factoring all physical demands placed on pt.”  Employer timely filed a request to cross-examine Dr. McGarry on this document. (Letter to Dr. McGarry, December 7, 2011; Dr. McGarry response, Employee Medical Summary, January 23, 2012; Employer Request for Cross-Examination, February 2, 2012, Exhibit 4).

33) On January 26, 2012, Claimant designated Frank Ochberg, M.D., as an expert witness.  (Employee’s Designation of Expert Witness, January 26, 2012).
34) On January 27, 2012, in a short addendum letter, Dr. Sheorn noted her opinion had changed, and she now believed Ms. Stroup meets the DSM IV–TR
 diagnostic criteria for Narcissistic Personality Disorder, not simply Narcissistic traits. (Letter, January 27, 2012).
35) In a January 31, 2012 letter Dr. Sheorn addressed defense counsel’s “concerns about Mr. Croft seeking a protective order to block your request for photographs and videos of his client since the incident,” offering “[T]hese items would be highly relevant for this case and her diagnosis.”  The relevance, Dr. Sheorn explained, is that differential diagnosis, by definition, requires ruling out other disorders including Adjustment Disorder, Mood Disorder, Anxiety Disorder, Acute Stress Disorder, and Malingering.  She noted “There are other more serious disorders listed, like Schizophrenia and Bipolar Disorder, that I don’t think we need to consider for Mrs. Stroup, but the entire list is there if it is necessary to you.”  Dr. Sheorn then quoted a portion of the DSM under Section 309.81 Post-traumatic Stress Disorder, noting specifically that “malingering should be ruled out in those situations in which financial remuneration, benefit eligibility, and forensic determinations play a role.” Dr. Sheorn reported that guidelines for evaluating malingering recommend gathering collateral information about the traumatic incident, and that reading witness statements, collecting past psychiatric records, talking to family members, coworkers, or gathering documentation of a claimant’s daily activities can be very helpful to determine the degree to which the incident has affected them.  Dr. Sheorn concluded “photographs and videos could provide important diagnostic information relevant to Mrs. Stoup’s (sic) having PTSD.”  (Second EME Addendum, Dr. Sheorn, January 31, 2012).
36) On February 3, 2012, Employer filed a Request for Cross-Examination of the following individuals on the specified documents:
a)       Dr. Ochberg, concerning his November 30, 2011 medical record, and “all medical records, past and present.” The request alleged Dr. Ochberg was not a treating physician but an expert witness. Employer noted this was a continuing request for cross-examination of any of Dr. Ochberg’s records, and asserting that any expense associated with providing Employer its right to cross-examine Dr. Ochberg should be Claimant’s responsibility.  (Request for Cross-Examination, dated February 2, 2012).

b)
Dr. Heniford, concerning “all records after April 21, 2011,” alleging they are not business records but were prepared solely for purposes of litigation as evidenced by Mr. Croft’s December 7, 2011 letter to Dr. Heniford.  (Id.).

c)
Dr. McGarry, concerning “all records after April 21, 2011,” alleging they are not business records but were prepared solely for purposes of litigation as evidenced by Mr. Croft’s December 7, 2011 letter to Dr. McGarry. (Id.).

d)
Dr. Denton, concerning “all records after April 21, 2011,” alleging they are not business records but were prepared solely for purposes of litigation as evidenced by Mr. Croft’s June 14, 2011 letter to Dr. Denton. (Id.).

e)
Dr. Miller, concerning “all records after April 21, 2011,” alleging they are not business records but were prepared solely for purposes of litigation as evidenced by Mr. Croft’s December 7, 2011 letter to Dr. Miller.  (Id.).

f)
Dr. Bramante, concerning “all records after April 21, 2011,” alleging they are not business records but were prepared solely for purposes of litigation as evidenced by Mr. Croft’s September 23, 2011 letter to Dr. Bramante. (Id.).

At hearing Employer revised its request, limiting its requests for cross-examination to those records produced after the dates of counsel’s respective letters to each of the listed treating physicians.  (Hearing record).

37) On February 8, 2012, in a third addendum to her original EME report, Dr. Sheorn reported on her review of additional medical records,  including treatment notes from psychiatrist Dr. Ochberg, as well as his November 30, 2011 responses to counsel’s questionnaire. Dr. Sheorn concluded Dr. Ochberg’s determination Ms. Stroup suffered incapacitating psychiatric symptoms was based on Ms. Stroup’s “highly motivated self-report of severe symptoms,” which Dr. Sheorn opined “have been both over-reported and over-interpreted.”  (Third EME Addendum, Dr. Sheorn, February 8, 2012).
38) On February 17, 2012, Claimant deposed Dr. Miller, Ms. Stroup’s treating rheumatologist, in person in Tampa, Florida.  Employer attended and cross-examined Dr. Miller.  (Dr. Miller deposition transcript).
39) On February 21, 2012, the parties attended a full day mediation in Seattle.  A partial agreement resolving indemnity issues was reached in concept. Post-mediation negotiations between the parties were required before the precise language of the agreement was resolved and the agreement reduced to writing. (Record; Affidavits of Attorney Fees and Costs).
40) At a prehearing conference taking place over two days, April 5, 2012 and April 9, 2012, the issues for a scheduled April 18, 2012 hearing were refined.  These included the parties’ respective petitions concerning releases, production, excluding physician reports, producing witnesses for cross-examination, “Attorney’s fees and costs up to the date of hearing,” and approval of the C & R, if completed.  (Prehearing conference summary, April 5, 9, 2012).
41) In an April 12, 2012, letter to the board designee, Employer sought to “clarify/correct” several statements in the April 5 and 9, 2012 prehearing conference summary, including the ripeness of the attorney fee issue:  “it was also agreed by the parties at the prehearing that if there is (sic) [not] a Compromise and Release by the hearing date, then the fee and cost issue is moot and will not be heard because, as of that date, employee’s attorney would not have secured any benefits for her per AS 23.30.145.” (Letter from Ms. Gabbert to the board designee, April 12, 2012).
42) On April 13, 2012 the parties filed their legal memoranda for the April 18, 2012 hearing.  Ms. Stroup’s memorandum, contemplating the C &R having been filed, addressed the issue of attorney fees, and was accompanied by an affidavit of time and costs through April 13, 2012.  (Ms. Stroup’s Hearing Brief, April 13, 2012, Affidavit of Time and Costs, April 13, 2012).  In its brief Employer continued to maintain the issue of attorney fees was not ripe as the C & R had not yet been filed.  Employer argued in the alternative that in the event the C & R addressing indemnity benefits was filed before the hearing, numerous entries on the affidavit of fees and costs should be disallowed.  Employer attached a color-coded spreadsheet, marked Exhibit K, identifying which entries should be denied and why.  (Employer’s Hearing Brief, April 13, 2012, at footnote 3; Employer’s Exhibit K).
43) On April 18, 2012, the parties’ petitions came on for hearing.  These included Ms. Stroup’s petition seeking to compel return of medical records and for sanctions, and Employer’s petitions to compel photographs and video recordings, and to exclude certain physician reports from evidence unless Claimant made the physicians available for cross-examination.  (Record; Prehearing Conference Summary, April 5, 9, 2012).
44) In support of its petition to compel Claimant to release all photographs and video recordings since the work injury, Employer relied on Dr. Sheorn’s January 31, 2012 letter to defense counsel.  (Petition, Employer’s Hearing Brief and Exhibits).  
45) On April 30, 2012, a Partial Compromise & Release Agreement was filed.  The C & R provided Ms. Stroup with $696.76 per week for life, with no offset for social security or other disability payments, overpayment, reimbursement or modification for any reason, including change in condition, residency, or mistake, now or in the future.  To fulfill its obligation under the agreement, Employer purchased an annuity from Liberty Life Assurance Company of Boston, applying to Ms. Stroup, then age 61, a rated age of 71, at a cost of $459,692.00.  In addition, Employer would pay Ms. Stroup $7,500.00 for her claim for personal attendant care services her husband provided during her convalescence.  In return, Ms. Stroup and her husband waived any and all indemnity benefits, including temporary partial disability, TTD, PTD, permanent partial impairment, reemployment benefits, reemployment stipend, interest and penalties.  The agreement did not waive medical and related benefits, future interest, a second independent medical evaluation (SIME) under AS 23.30.095(k), benefits or penalty for Employer’s alleged misuse of releases, attorney fees and costs, or any claim by Mr. Stroup for death benefits under AS 23.30.215.  The C & R was effective upon filing on April 30, 2012.  (Record; Partial Compromise & Release; Hearing Briefs; Affidavit of Service, April 30, 2012, containing Annuity Cost Illustration for rated age 71).  
46) On May 2, 2012, the parties filed hearing briefs on the issue of attorney fees. (Record).
47) On May 7, 2012, at the board’s direction, a prehearing conference convened to establish the issues for the May 9, 2012 hearing.  The combined April 5 and 9, 2012 prehearing conference summary identified the sole issue for the May 9, 2012 hearing as a disputed cost of living adjustment, an issue resolved in the C & R.  No prehearing conference summary identified attorney fees as an issue for hearing on May 9, 2012.   At the prehearing conference, the parties agreed the sole issue for the May 9, 2012 hearing would be Claimant’s request for an award of attorney fees and costs.  They further agreed the record for the hearings on April 18, 2012 and May 9, 2012 would close together after the May 9, 2012 hearing. (Prehearing conference summaries, April 4, 9, 2012; May 7, 2012).
48) At the start of the May 9, 2012 hearing, Claimant’s counsel filed a Supplemental Affidavit of Time and Costs for his efforts since he filed his initial affidavit of fees and costs on April 13, 2012.  (Supplemental Affidavit).
49) Employer objected to the Supplemental Affidavit of Time and Costs in its entirety, contending it was filed untimely, and argued Ms. Stroup waived any right to any fees beyond statutory minimum attorney fees, having filed her supplemental affidavit late.  (Record)  Statutory minimum attorney fees on the $459,692.00 cost of the annuity, and the $7,500.00 paid for personal attendant care costs would be $46,869.20.  (AS 23.30.145(a); Experience).
50) Claimant’s combined affidavits of attorney fees and costs for professional services rendered on her behalf by The Crofts Law Office for the period April 14, 2011 through May 8, 2012 total $138,150.60.  This affidavit omitted the four hours of counsel’s time spent at the May 9, 2012 hearing.  In the combined affidavits, Claimant sought a fee award for 329.7 hours of services provided by Eric Croft at a rate of $300.00 per hour; 47.1 hours of services provided by Chancy Croft at $350.00 per hour and 2.1 hours at $400.00 per hour; and 130.05 hours of paralegal services performed by Patty Jones at $150.00 per hour, with an additional 10.5 hours billed at $160.00 per hour.  Reimbursement for costs totaling $13,815.24 was also requested.  Of these totals, 26.1 hours of Eric Croft’s time appeared on the Supplemental Affidavit of Time and Costs filed at the hearing on May 9, 2012, as did 2.1 hours of Chancy Croft’s time at $400.00 per hour, and the 10.5 hours of Patty Jones’ time at $160.00 per hour.  (Affidavit of Time and Costs; Supplemental Affidavit of Time and Costs).
51) The combined total for fees and costs Claimant seeks, itemized on the two affidavits of time and costs, and including an additional $1,200.00 for four hours of Eric’s Croft’s time at the May 9, 2012 hearing at a rate of $300.00 per hour, is $153,165.84.  (Affidavits; Record). 
52) Employer objected to Eric Croft’s billing rate of $300.00 per hour.  It did not object to Chancy Croft’s or Patty Jones’ initial or increased billing rates.  (Employer’s hearing brief and argument).
53) Employer objected to numerous entries on the initial attorney fees affidavit as representing efforts double or triple billed by the attorneys and paralegal, entries allegedly involving inappropriate contact with Employer’s client, or an attorney billing for paralegal work, premature billing on matters related to unresolved medical issues, unnecessary billing for travel costs for a deposition in Tampa, Florida which it argued could have been conducted telephonically, and billing for issues on which Claimant did not prevail.   From the initial attorney time and costs affidavit, Employer objected to entries totaling $70,054.22.  (Employer Brief; Affidavits of Teresa Reed with color-coded chart attachment identifying objectionable entries; Employer Exhibit titled “Sub-Totals & Totals of Reductions to Requested Attorney Fees and Costs”). 
54) In support of the firm’s request for attorney fees, Patty Jones and Eric Croft testified and were cross-examined by Employer concerning the entries on the affidavits.  (Record).  Ms. Jones testified credibly concerning the manner in which time spent is memorialized by members of the firm, the identity and application of the billing software the firm uses, and responded to questions concerning specific entries to which Employer objected.  Mr. Croft testified credibly in response to inquiries by defense counsel and the Board, and responded to questions concerning specific entries to which Employer objected.  (Croft, Jones, Hearing Record).  Mr. Wong testified concerning the cost to Employer for the annuity it purchased under the parties’ agreement settling indemnity benefits.  Mr. Schneider testified consistently with his affidavit, opining counsel’s affidavit of fees was reasonable when compared with a 33 1/3 percent contingency fee award customary in personal injury tort cases.  (Wong, Schneider, Hearing Record).  
55) The cost to Employer for the annuity and the personal attendant care cost, issues resolved by the parties’ partial C & R, was $467,492.00.  The monetary benefit Ms. Stroup was expected to receive from the annuity, based on a rated age of 71, though her chronological age at the time was 61, was $998,293.00.  (Settlement Proposal, Ringler Associates, Employer’s Hearing Brief, May 2, 2012, Exhibit D). 
56) A two day hearing is scheduled for October 23-24, 2012 on the unresolved issues of medical and related benefits. (Prehearing Conference Summary, April 5, 9, 2012).
PRINCIPLES OF LAW

AS 23.30.001.  Intent of the legislature and construction of chapter.  It is the intent of the legislature that

1) this chapter be interpreted so as to ensure the quick, efficient, fair, and predictable delivery of indemnity and medical benefits to injured workers at a reasonable cost to the employers who are subject to the provisions of this chapter;

2) workers’ compensation cases shall be decided on their merits except where otherwise provided by statute;

3)  this chapter may not be construed by the courts in favor of a party;

4) hearings in workers’ compensation cases shall be impartial and fair to all parties and that all parties shall be afforded due process and an opportunity to be heard and for their arguments and evidence to be fairly considered.

The board may base its decision not only on direct testimony, medical findings, and other tangible evidence, but also on the board’s “experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above.”  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533-34 (Alaska 1987).

An adjudicative body must base its decision on the law, whether cited by a party or not.  Barlow v. Thompson, 221 P.3d 998 (2009).

AS 23.30.005.  Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board.

. . .

(h) The department shall adopt rules for all panels, and . . . shall adopt regulations to carry out the provisions of this chapter. . . If a procedural, discovery, or stipulated matter is heard and decided by the commissioner or a hearing officer designated to represent the commissioner, the action taken is considered the action of the full board on that aspect of the claim.  Process and procedure under this chapter shall be as summary and simple as possible . . . .

AS 23.30.095.  Medical treatments, services, and examinations.  

. . .

(h)  Upon the filing with the division by a party in interest of a claim or other pleading, all parties to the proceeding must immediately, or in any event within five days after service of the pleading, send to the division the original signed reports of all physicians relating to the proceedings that they may have in their possession or under their control, and copies of the reports shall be served by the party immediately on any adverse party.  There is a continuing duty on all parties to file and serve all the reports during the pendency of the proceeding.

AS 23.30.107. Release of Information.  

(a) Upon written request, an employee shall provide written authority to the employer, carrier, rehabilitation specialist, or reemployment benefits administrator to obtain medical and rehabilitation information relative to the employee’s injury. The request must include notice of the employee’s right to file a petition for a protective order with the division and must be served by certified mail to the employee’s address on the notice of injury or by hand delivery to the employee. This subsection may not be construed to authorize an employer, carrier, rehabilitation specialist, or reemployment benefits administrator to request medical or other information that is not applicable to the employee’s injury. 


. . .

Employers have a right to thoroughly investigate workers’ compensation claims to verify information provided, properly administer claims, and effectively litigate disputed claims. Cooper v. Boatel, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 87‑0108 (May 4, 1987).   Medical and other releases are important means of doing so.  Under AS 23.30.107(a), an employee must release all evidence “relative” to the injury.  Evidence is “relative” to the claim where the information sought is reasonably calculated to lead to facts having any tendency to make an issue in a case more or less likely. Granus v. Fell, AWCB Decision No. 99-0016 (January 20, 1999).  
Based on the policy favoring liberal discovery, “calculated to lead to admissible evidence” means more than a mere possibility, but not necessarily a probability, that the information sought by the release will lead to admissible evidence.  Id.  For a discovery request to be “reasonably calculated,” it must be based on a deliberate and purposeful design to lead to admissible evidence, and that design must be both reasonable and articulable.  The proponent of a release must be able to articulate a reasonable nexus between the information sought and evidence relevant to a material issue in the case.  In the Matter of Mendel, 897 P.2d 68, 93 (Alaska 1995).  The burden of demonstrating the relevancy of information being sought rests with the proponent of the release.  Wariner v. Chugach Services, Inc., AWCB Dec. No. 10-0075 (April 29, 2010).

Every potential disclosure of extraordinarily sensitive medical records, such as psychological and psychiatric records for example, outside of what is necessary for medical treatment or to prove or disprove a material issue in dispute, incrementally and impermissibly intrudes on Employee’s constitutional right to privacy in those records.  Falcon v. Alaska Public Offices Commission, 570 P.2d 469 (Alaska 1977) at 480.  See also Davic v. Seastar Stevedore, AWCB Decision No. 88‑0361 (December 29, 1988).

The proposition that information is automatically relevant because a physician states that it is has been rejected.  While a physician statement may weigh in the board’s consideration, it is the board or the board’s designee that is charged with determining relevance as a matter of law.  Newsom v. Three Bears Alaska, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 10-0037 (February 22, 2010).

AS 23.30.108.  Prehearings on Discovery Matters; Objections to Requests For Release of Information; Sanctions For Noncompliance.  (a) If an employee objects to a request for written authority under AS 23.30.107, the employee must file a petition with the board seeking a protective order within 14 days after service of the request.  If the employee fails to file a petition and fails to deliver the written authority as required by AS 23.30.107 within 14 days after service of the request, the employee’s rights to benefits under this chapter are suspended until the written authority is delivered. 

. . .
(d)  If the employee files a petition seeking a protective order to recover medical and rehabilitation information that has been provided but is not related to the employee’s injury, and the board or the board’s designee grants the protective order, the board or the board’s designee granting the protective order shall direct the division, the board, the commission, and the parties to return to the employee, as soon as practicable following the issuance of the protective order, all medical and rehabilitation information, including copies, in their possession that is unrelated to the employee’s injury under the protective order.

(e)  If the board or the board’s designee limits the medical or rehabilitation information that may be used by the parties to a claim, either by an order on the record or by issuing a written order, the division, the board, the commission, and a party to the claim may request and an employee shall provide or authorized the production of medical or rehabilitation information only to the extent of the limitations of the order.  If information has been produced that is outside of the limits designated in the order, the board or the board’s designee shall direct the party in possession of the information to return the information to the employee as soon as practicable following the issuance of the order. (Emphasis added).

The 2010 amendment adding subsections (d) and (e) to AS 23.30.108 reflects the legislature’s concern an injured worker’s constitutional right to privacy in medical information irrelevant to his claim is violated by either its dissemination to employers, or by filing with the board.  These sections strengthen injured workers’ privacy rights, prevent discovery of unrelated information and provide for its return to the employee.  The amendment attempts to craft a remedy in those cases where a protective order to prevent inappropriate disclosure was not obtained in the first place, or where irrelevant information was obtained from a provider which exceeds the scope of the release obtained and served on a provider.  Blakely v. Providence Health System, AWCB Decision No. 10-0145 at 13 (August 26, 2010).

AS 23.30.122.  Credibility of witnesses.  The board has the sole power to determine the credibility of a witness.  A finding by the board concerning the weight to be accorded a witness’s testimony, including medical testimony and reports, is conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting or susceptible to contrary conclusions.  The findings of the board are subject to the same standard of review as a jury’s finding in a civil action.

AS 23.30.135.  Procedure before the board.  

(a) In making an investigation or inquiry or conducting a hearing the board is not bound by common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure, except as provided by this chapter. The board may make its investigation or inquiry or conduct its hearing in the manner by which it may best ascertain the rights of the parties. Declarations of a deceased employee concerning the injury in respect to which the investigation or inquiry is being made or the hearing conducted shall be received in evidence and are, if corroborated by other evidence, sufficient to establish the injury.

AS 23.30.145.  Attorney fees. (a) Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less than 25 percent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation, and 10 percent of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation . . . 

(b) If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fee.  The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.  

Where an employer resists payment of benefits, and a claimant employs an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, an award of attorney fees may be made under 
AS 23.30.145(b).  Harnish Group, Inc. v. Moore, 160 P.3d 146, 153 (Alaska 2007).   Attorney fee awards under AS 23.30.145(b) should be “both fully compensatory and reasonable so that competent counsel will be available to furnish legal services to injured workers” (emphasis in original). Wise Mechanical Contractors v. Bignell, 718 P.2d 971, 974-975 (Alaska 1986).  When an employee does not prevail on all issues, attorney’s fees should be based on the issues on which the employee prevailed.  Childs v. Copper Valley Elec. Ass’n,  860 P.2d 1184, 1190  (Alaska 1993) (where Claimant prevailed on its claim for penalty for late paid TTD, but failed on its claim for further disability and medical benefits, attorney was entitled to fees on his efforts obtaining the penalty).
In determining a reasonable fee under AS 23.30.145(b), the board is required to consider the contingency nature of representing injured workers, the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the resistance of the employer, the benefits resulting from the services obtained, the fee customarily charged in the locale for similar services, and the experience, reputation and ability of the lawyer performing the services. Bignell at 975.  

When an employer controverts a benefit and the employee has to file a claim to recover benefits, subsequent payments, though voluntary, are equivalent to a Board award, because the efforts of the employee’s counsel were instrumental to inducing it.  Childs v. Copper Valley Electric Ass’n, 860 P.2d 1184 (Alaska 1993).  See also State, Dep’t of Highways v. Brown, 600 P.2d 9, 12 (Alaska 1979) (holding where the employer apparently thought resisting the claim any further would lead to a Board decision in the employee’s favor, a voluntary payment of benefits constituted an “award”).

While the board in dictum in one case suggested an attorney fees claim may be questioned on the ground that the attorney fee affidavit “block-billed,” with respect to the award of attorney fees under Civil Rule 82, the Alaska Supreme Court has held “a table with short descriptions of work performed, arranged by billing attorney and date” without requiring greater specificity, is an adequate itemization of time spent in a case to support an award of attorney fees.  Matanuska Elec. Ass’n v. Rewire the Board, 36 P.3d 685, 698 (Alaska 2001)(finding affidavit of counsel adequate to support attorney fee claim under Civil Rule 82);  Lawrence v. Channel Sanitation Corp., AWCB Dec. No. 97-0121 (May 30, 1997).  The Board has adopted this Supreme Court reasoning in its awards under AS 23.30.145(b).  McKenna v. ARCO, AWCB Decision No. 12-0070 (April 9, 2012) at 60 (“ ‘Block billing’ is a common and longstanding method of billing in the legal profession.  The reasonableness and necessity of listed tasks performed on a single day, as well as the total time spent on the cumulated tasks that day, are discernible by the reviewing hearing officer, also an attorney, without the necessity for recording the precise time utilized for each specific task on a given day.”; Mullen v. Municipality of Anchorage, AWCB Decision No. 10-0172 (October 14, 2010) at 18 (“Where time spent on tasks listed in block billing entries is excessive, hours or hourly billing rates will be reduced.”)   
AS 23.30.155. Payment of compensation.
. . .

(h) The board may upon its own initiative at any time in a case in which payments are being made with or without an award, where right to compensation is controverted, or where payments of compensation have been increased, reduced, terminated, changed, or suspended, upon receipt of notice from a person entitled to compensation, or from the employer, that the right to compensation is controverted, or that payments of compensation have been increased, reduced, terminated, changed, or suspended, make the investigations, cause the medical examinations to be made, or hold the hearings, and take the further action which it considers will properly protect the rights of all parties.

. . .
8 AAC 45.052.  Medical summary. (a) A medical summary on form 07-6103, listing each medical report in the claimant’s or petition’s possession which is or may be relevant to the claim or petition, must be filed with a claim or petition.  The claimant or petitioner shall serve a copy of the summary form, along with copies of the medical reports, upon all parties to the case and shall file the original summary form with the board . . .

(b)  The party receiving a medical summary and claim or petition shall file with the board an amended summary on form 07-6103 within the time allowed under AS 23.30.095(h), listing all reports in the party’s possession which are or may be relevant to the claim and which are not listed on the claimant’s or petitioner’s medical summary form.  In addition, the party shall serve the amended medical summary form, together with copies of the reports, upon all parties.

(c)  Except as provided in (f) of this section, a party filing an affidavit of readiness for hearing must attach an updated medical summary, on form 07-6103, if any new medical reports have been obtained since the last medical summary was filed.

(1) If the party filing an affidavit of readiness for hearing wants the opportunity to cross-examine the author of a medical report listed on the medical summaries that have been filed, the party must file with the board, and serve upon all parties, a request for cross-examination, together with the affidavit of readiness for hearing and an updated medical summary and copies of the medical reports listed on the medical summary, if required under this section.

(2) If a party served with an affidavit of readiness for hearing wants the opportunity to cross-examine the author of a medical report listed on the medical summaries filed as of the date of service of the affidavit of readiness for hearing, a request for cross-examination must be filed with the board, and served upon all parties, within 10 days after service of the affidavit of readiness for hearing.

(3)  After an affidavit of readiness for hearing has been filed, and until the claim is heard or otherwise resolved,


(A)  all updated medical summaries must be accompanied by a request for cross-examination if the party filing the updated medical summary wants the opportunity to cross-examine the author of a medical report listed on the updated medical summary; and 


(B)  if a party served with an updated medical summary and copies of the medical reports listed on the medical summary wants the opportunity to cross-examine the author of a medical report listed on the updated medical summary, a request for cross-examination must be filed with the board and served upon all parties within 10 days after service of the updated medical summary.


. . .

(4) If an updated medical summary is filed and served less than 20 days before a hearing, the board will rely upon a medical report listed in the updated medical summary only if the parties expressly waive the right to cross-examination, or if the board determines that the medical report listed on the updated summary is admissible under a hearsay exception of the Alaska Rules of Evidence.

(5) A request for cross-examination must specifically identify the document by date and author, generally describe the type of document, state the name of the person to be cross-examined, state a specific reason why cross-examination is requested, be timely filed under (2) of this subsection, and be served upon all parties.

(A)  If a request for cross-examination is not in accordance with this section, the party waives the right to request cross-examination regarding a medical report listed on the updated medical summary.

(B) If a party waived the right to request cross-examination of an author of a medical report listed on a medical summary that was filed in accordance with this section, at the hearing the party may present as the party’s witness the testimony of the author of a medical report listed on a medical summary filed under this section.  

(d) After a claim or petition is filed, all parties must file with the board an updated medical summary form within five days after getting an additional medical report.  A copy of the medical summary form, together with copies of the medical reports listed on the form, must be served upon all parties at the time the medical summary is filed with the board.  (Emphasis added).

. . .

“Letters written by a physician to a party or party representative to express an expert medical opinion on an issue before the Board are not admissible as business records unless the requisite foundation is established.”  Bass v. Veterinary Specialists of Alaska, AWCB Decision No. 08-0093 (May 16, 2008).  A party has a right to cross-examine the authors of a medical record, if the right is not waived.  Commercial Union Companies v. Smallwood, 550 P.2d 1261 (Alaska 1976).  

Reports of independent medical evaluators retained by litigants are not medical records “prepared in the course of business” and are not admissible under the business records exception to the Rules of Evidence. Consequently, such reports are not admissible over objection and may not be the sole basis for making a finding.  Moesh v. Anchorage Sand & Gravel, AWCB Decision No. 92-0188 (July 29, 1992).

8 AAC 45.054.  Discovery. (a) The testimony of a material witness, including a party, may be taken by written or oral deposition in accordance with the Alaska Rules of Civil Procedure. In addition, the parties may agree or, upon a party’s petition, the board or designee will exercise discretion and direct that the deposition testimony of a witness be taken by telephone conference call. The party seeking to introduce a witness’ testimony by deposition shall pay the initial cost of the deposition. (Emphasis added).

(b)  Upon the petition of a party, the board will, in its discretion, order other means of discovery.


. . .

8 AAC 45.065. Prehearings. (a) After a claim or petition has been filed, a party may file a written request for a prehearing, and the board or designee will schedule a prehearing. . . .  At the prehearing, the board or designee will exercise discretion in making determinations on


(1)
identifying and simplifying the issues . . . .

. . .


(4)
limiting the number of witnesses, identifying those witnesses, or requiring a witness list in accordance with 8 AAC 45.112;

. . .

(c)  After the prehearing the board or designee will issue a summary of the actions taken at the prehearing, the amendments to the pleadings, and the agreements made between the parties or their representatives.  The summary will limit the issues for hearing to those that are in dispute at the end of the prehearing.  Unless modified, the summary governs the issues and the course of the hearing.

(d) Within 10 days after service of a prehearing summary issued under (c) of this section, a party may ask in writing that a prehearing summary be modified or amended by the designee to correct a misstatement of fact or to change a prehearing determination.  The party making a request to modify or amend a prehearing summary shall serve all parties with a copy of the written request.  If a party’s request to modify or amend is not timely filed or lacks proof of service upon all parties, the designee may not act upon the request.

. . .

(g)
Except when the board or its designee determines that unusual and extenuating circumstances exist, the prehearing summary, if a prehearing was conducted and if applicable, governs the issues and the course of the hearing. . . .

The summaries of the prehearing conferences, not the pleadings, control the subsequent course of the suit. Schmidt v. Beeson Plumbing and Hearing, Inc., 869 P.2d 1170, 1176 (Alaska 1994). 

 8 AAC 45.095.  Release of information.  (a)  An employee who, having been properly served with a request for release of information, feels that the information requested is not relevant to the injury must, within 14 days after service of the request, petition for a prehearing under 8 AAC 45.065.

(b)  If after a prehearing the board or its designee determines that information sought from the employee is not relevant to the injury that is the subject of the claim, a protective order will be issued. 

. . .

8 AAC 45.112.  Witness list.  A witness list must indicate whether the witness will testify in person, by deposition, or telephonically, the witness’s address and phone number, and a brief description of the subject matter and substance of the witness’s expected testimony.  If a witness list is required under 8 AAC 45.065, the witness list must be filed with the board and served upon all parties at least five working days before the hearing.  If a party directed at a prehearing to file a witness list fails to file a witness list as directed or files a witness list that is not in accordance with this section, the board will exclude the party’s witnesses from testifying at the hearing, except that the board will admit and consider

     (1)  the testimony of a party, and


      (2)  deposition testimony completed, though not necessarily transcribed, before the time for filing a witness list.

8 AAC 45.120. Evidence.

(a) Witnesses at a hearing shall testify under oath or affirmation. . . .

(b) The order in which evidence and argument is presented at the hearing will be in the discretion of the board, unless otherwise expressly provided by law. All proceedings must afford every party a reasonable opportunity for a fair hearing.

(c) Each party has the following rights at hearing:

(1) to call and examine witnesses; 

                        (2) to introduce exhibits; 

(3) to cross-examine opposing witnesses on any matter relevant to the issues even though the matter was not covered in the direct examination; 

(4) to impeach any witness regardless of which party first called the witness to testify; and; 

(5) to rebut contrary evidence.

. . . .

(e) Technical rules relating to evidence and witnesses do not apply in board proceedings, except as provided in this chapter.  Any relevant evidence is admissible if it is the sort of evidence on which responsible persons are accustomed to rely in the conduct of serious affairs, regardless of the existence of any common law or statutory rule which might make improper the admission of such evidence over objection in civil actions.  Hearsay evidence may be used for the purpose of supplementing or explaining any direct evidence, but it is not sufficient in itself to support a finding of fact unless it would be admissible over objection in civil actions.  The rules of privilege apply to the same extent as in civil actions.  Irrelevant or unduly repetitious evidence may be excluded on those grounds. . . .

(f) Any document . . . that is served upon the parties, accompanied by proof of service, and that is in the board’s possession 20 or more days before hearing, will, in the board’s discretion, be relied upon by the board in reaching a decision unless a written request for an opportunity to cross-examine the document’s author is filed with the board and served upon all parties at least 10 days before the hearing.  The right to request cross-examination specified in this subsection does not apply to medical reports filed in accordance with 8 AAC 45.052; a cross-examination request for the author of a medical report must be made in accordance with 8 AAC 45.052.

(g) A request for cross-examination filed under (f) of this section must (1) specifically identify the document by date and author, and generally describe the type of document; and (2) state a specific reason why cross-examination is being requested.

. . .

(h)  If a request is filed in accordance with (f) of this section, an opportunity for cross-examination will be provided unless the request is withdrawn or the board determines that


(1) under a hearsay exception of the Alaska Rules of Evidence, the document is admissible;


(2)  the document is not hearsay under the Alaska Rules of Evidence; or


(3)  the document is a report of an examination performed by a physician chosen by the board under AS 23.30.095(k) or AS 23.30.110(g).

(i)  If a hearing is scheduled on less than 20 days’ notice or if a document is received by the board less than 20 days before hearing, the board will rely upon that document only if the parties expressly waive the right to cross-examination or if the board determines the document is admissible under a hearsay exception of the Alaska Rules of Evidence.

(j)  Subsections (f) – (i) apply only to objections based on hearsay, and do not limit the parties’ right to object to the introduction of document on other grounds.  

(k)  The board favors the production of medical evidence in the form of written reports, but will, in its discretion, give less weight to written reports that do not include


(1)  the patient’s complaints;


(2)  the history of the injury;


(3)  the source of all facts set out in the history and complaints;


(4)  the findings on examination;


(5)  the medical treatment indicated;


(6)  the relationship of the impairment or injury to the employment;

(7) the medical provider’s opinion concerning the employee’s working ability and reasons for that opinion;


(8)  the likelihood of permanent impairment; and 

(9) the medical provider’s opinion as to whether the impairment, if permanent, is ready for rating, the extent of impairment, and detailed factors upon which the rating is based.

(Emphasis added).

8 AAC 45.180.  Costs and attorney’s fees. . . .

. . .

(b) A fee under AS 23.30.145 will only be awarded to an attorney licensed to practice law in this state or another state.  An attorney seeking a fee from an employer for services performed on behalf of an applicant must apply to the board for approval of the fee; the attorney may submit an application for adjustment of claim or a petition.  An attorney requesting a fee in excess of the statutory minimum in AS 23.30.145(a) must (1) file an affidavit itemizing the hours expended, as well as the extent and character of the work performed, and (2) if a hearing is scheduled, file the affidavit at least three working days before the hearing on the claim for which the services were rendered; at the hearing, the attorney may supplement the affidavit by testifying about the hours expended and the extent and character of the work performed after the affidavit was filed.  If the request and affidavit are not in accordance with this subsection, the board will deny the request for a fee in excess of the statutory minimum fee, and will award the minimum statutory fee.

(c) Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, an attorney fee may not been collected from an applicant without board approval.  A request for approval of a fee be paid by an applicant must be supported by an affidavit showing the extent and character of the legal services performed. . . .

(d) The board will award a fee under AS 23.30.145(b) only to an attorney licensed to practice law under the laws of this or another state.

(1) A request for a fee under AS 23.30.145(b) must be verified by an affidavit itemizing the hours expended as well as the extent and character of the work performed, and, if a hearing is scheduled, must be filed at least three working days before the hearing on the claim for which the services were rendered; at hearing the attorney may supplement the affidavit by testifying about the hours expended and the extent and character of the work performed after the filing of the affidavit. Failure by the attorney to file the request and affidavit in accordance with this paragraph is considered a waiver of the attorney’s right to recover a reasonable fee in excess of the statutory minimum fee under AS 23.30.145(a), if AS 23.30.145(a) is applicable to the claim, unless the board determines that good cause exists to excuse the failure to comply with this section. 

(2) In awarding a reasonable fee under AS 23.30.145(b) the board will award a fee reasonably commensurate with the actual work performed and will consider the attorney’s affidavit filed under (1) of this subsection, the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the benefits resulting to the compensation beneficiaries from the services, and the amount of benefits involved.

(Emphasis added).

. . . .

(f)  The board will award an applicant the necessary and reasonable costs relating to the preparation and presentation of the issues upon which the applicant prevailed at the hearing on the claim. The applicant must file a statement listing each cost claimed, and must file an affidavit stating that the costs are correct and that the costs were incurred in connection with the claim.  The following costs will, in the board’s discretion, be awarded to an applicant: 


(1)   costs incurred in making a witness available for cross-examination;


(2)   court reporter fees and costs of obtaining deposition transcripts’


(3)   costs of obtaining medical reports;


(4)   costs of taking the deposition of a medical expert, provided all parties to the deposition have the opportunity to obtain and review the medical records before scheduling the deposition;


(5)  travel costs incurred by an employee in attending a deposition prompted by a Smallwood objection;

. . .


(8)   costs incurred in obtaining the in-person testimony of physicians at a scheduled hearing;


(9)   expert witness fees, if the board finds the expert’s testimony to be relevant to the claim;  

. . .

(13)  fees for the services of a paralegal or law clerk, but only if the paralegal . . . 


(A)  is employed by an attorney licensed in this or another state;



(B) performed the work under the supervision of a licensed attorney;



(C)  performed work that is not clerical in nature;

. . . 



(E)  does not duplicate work for which an attorney’s fee was awarded;

. . .


(17)   other costs as determined by the board.  

Rule 803.  Hearsay Exceptions – Availability of Declarant Immaterial.

            
The following are not excluded by the hearsay rule, even though the  declarant is available as a witness:

(3)  Statements for the Purposes of Medical Diagnosis or Treatment.  Statements made for purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment and describing medical history, or past or present symptoms, pain, or sensations or the inception or general character of the cause or external source thereof insofar as reasonable pertinent to diagnosis or treatment.

. . .

(6)
Business Records.  A memorandum, report, record, or data compilation, in any form, of acts, events, conditions, opinions, or diagnoses, made at or near the time by, or from information transmitted by, a person with knowledge acquired of a regularly conducted business activity, and if it was the regular practice of that business activity to make and keep the memorandum, report, record, or data compilation, all as shown by the testimony of the custodian or other qualified witness, unless the source of information or the method or circumstances of preparation indicate lack of trustworthiness.  The term “business” as used in this paragraph includes business, institution, association, profession, occupation, and calling of every kind, whether or not conducted for profit.

. . .

Alaska Rules of Civil Procedure. Rule 30.  Depositions Upon Oral Examination.
(a) When Depositions May be Taken; When Leave is Required.

(1)  A party may take the testimony of any person, including a party, by deposition upon oral examination without leave of court . . .

(b) Notice of Examination:  General Requirements; … (1)  A party desiring to take the deposition of any person upon oral examination shall give reasonable notice in writing to every other party to the action.  The notice shall state the time and place for taking the deposition and the name and address of each person to be examined  . . .  

. . .

(7)  The parties may stipulate in writing or the court may upon motion order that a   deposition be taken by telephone or other remote electronic means.  For purposes of this rule and Rules 28(a), 37(b)(1), a deposition taken by such means is taken in the judicial district and at the place where the deponent is to answer questions. (Emphasis added).

ANALYSIS
1.
Should Employer be compelled to return to Ms. Stroup medical records obtained which exceeded the scope of the authorized releases utilized to obtain them? Should Employer be sanctioned for obtaining medical records outside the scope of the authorized releases?
Claimant seeks the return of medical records Employer received which exceeded the scope of the releases utilized to obtain them.  Claimant identified as unauthorized and subject to return specific records Employer referred to in its September 22, 2011 settlement letter, records apparently received from Dr. Strawbridge, including those pertaining to:  1) a chronic sore throat in 2006;  2) slightly abnormal liver function testing in 2003;  3) suspected cardiac problems on June 28, 2002 and associated testing;  4) reported chest tightening radiating to the back on August 1, 2001; 5) a palpable mass in the left breast; 6) a family history of myocardial infarction and premature atherosclerosis; and generally, 7) right lower quadrant pain, headaches, fatigue, pernicious anemia, dysuria, insomnia, and high cholesterol.  Claimant also seeks return of all other unrelated medical records Employer has obtained from whatever source. 

Claimant, through her signature on a proffered medical release on June 28, 2011, permitted Employer access to medical records pertaining to [1] The intra-abdominal/gastrointestinal system; [2] breasts; [3] hernia; [4] right shoulder /upper extremity; [5] right knee/lower extremity; [6] hips; [7] arthritis/arthragias; [8] diabetes or prediabetic conditions; [9] rheumatological,  inflammatory, or autoimmune disorders; [10] reflux, swallowing, or other problems with the throat; [11] sinus problems; [12] dizziness/vertigo and/or hearing loss; [13] and mental or emotional issues from November 2006 through the present, and [14] sleep apnea and related conditions from 2000 to present.  

The board, through its designee’s November 3, 2011 order, modified Employer’s access to medical records by allowing access to records pertaining to intra-abdominal/gastrointestinal conditions going back to 1978, but limiting psychological records to those addressing anxiety, stress or panic disorders only, from 2002 to present.  Access to medical records pertaining to breasts, hernia, right shoulder/upper extremity; right knee/lower extremity; hips; arthritis/arthragias; diabetes and pre-diabetic conditions; rheumatological, inflammatory, or autoimmune disorders; reflux, swallowing, or other problems with the throat; sinus problems; and dizziness/vertigo and/or hearing loss remained limited to those from November 2006 forward.
  

Comparing Claimant’s earlier authorization, the designee’s order, and the records Employer referenced in its September 22, 2011 settlement letter, it is evident Employer obtained medical records outside the scope of authorized releases.  Indeed, Employer conceded at hearing it obtained medical records in response to medical releases which it has not filed on medical summaries because they are not relevant to the issues for hearing.  

The law requires the employer, carrier and the board to return to an injured worker any medical records in its possession, or filed with the board, which are not related to an employee’s injury, or are outside the limits designated in a discovery order.  AS 23.30.108 (d) and (e).  Employer will be directed to identify by date and source each and every medical record in its possession not yet filed on a medical summary.   For each such document Employer will be directed to return it to Claimant, including all copies in its possession, and file the list with the board with an Affidavit of Compliance.  Claimant will be directed to identify each and every medical record filed on a Medical Summary, if any, it believes is unrelated to the issues in this case and for which it seeks the board’s return to Claimant.  Claimant will be directed to identify the document by date, provider, Medical Summary on which it is contained, and a concise explanation of the reason it believes the document is not relevant to the matters at issue in this case.  Employer will be permitted to respond.

The Board is empowered to make its investigation or inquiry or conduct its hearing in the manner by which it may best ascertain and protect the rights of the parties, according to law.  The law does not provide for imposition of sanctions upon an Employer for discovery abuses.  Nonetheless, Claimant has not shown abuse by Employer in obtaining medical records in this case.  That a provider may disclose records beyond the clear parameters of an authorized release is a provider error, not an Employer abuse.  The Employer’s obligation in such a case is to return those records to the employee in accordance with AS 23.30.108(d) and (e).

2.
Should Ms. Stroup be compelled to release photographs and video recordings in her possession containing her image and reflecting her activities since the date of injury?  Employers have a right to thoroughly investigate workers’ compensation claims.  The law requires an employee to release all evidence “relative” to a claim.  Evidence is “relative” to the claim where the information sought is reasonably calculated to lead to facts having a tendency to make an issue in a case more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.     

When Employer filed its petition to compel production of Ms. Stroup’s photographic and video images, the matters at issue were whether and which of Ms. Stroup’s medical conditions resulted from the work injury, and whether she was permanently totally disabled (PTD) or could return to gainful employment.   The PTD issue was resolved in Ms. Stroup’s favor in the parties’ April 30, 2012 partial C & R, where Employer acknowledged Ms. Stroup was rendered PTD as a result of her work injuries, and agreed to pay Ms. Stroup indemnity benefits for life. The remaining issue for which Employer now seeks to compel Ms. Stroup’s post-injury photographic and video images is whether Ms. Stroup suffers PTSD as a result of the work injury.  

In support of its petition to compel, and relying on Dr. Sheorn’s January 31, 2012 letter, Employer contends photographs and video recordings containing Ms. Stroup’s image and reflecting her activities since the date of injury are relevant to diagnosing what psychological or psychiatric conditions she may suffer as a result of the work injury, and what treatment may be needed.  Specifically, Dr. Sheorn opined that since Ms. Stroup “is claiming to experience PTSD,” it is part of the differential diagnosis to rule out other disorders, such as Adjustment Disorder, Mood Disorder, Anxiety Disorder, Acute Stress Disorder, Malingering, Schizophrenia and Bipolar Disorder.  The burden of demonstrating the relevancy of information sought rests with the proponent of the discovery demand.  The proposition that information is automatically relevant because a physician states that it is has been rejected.  While a physician statement may weigh in the board’s consideration, as a matter of law the board or board designee determines relevance.

On November 9, 2011, Dr. Sheorn ruled out PTSD and anxiety disorder, and diagnosed Ms. Stroup with Adjustment Disorder, Chronic, and Narcissistic Traits.  She opined that earlier in Ms. Stroup’s recovery she likely suffered anxiety disorder due to general medical condition, but as her medical condition improved, her diagnosis changed to Adjustment Disorder.  Dr. Sheorn concluded Ms. Stroup was medically stable, required no further psychological care, and any lingering anxiety Ms. Stroup was experiencing would diminish further when her workers’ compensation claim concluded.   

On January 27, 2012, Dr. Sheorn revised her secondary diagnosis of Narcissistic Traits to Narcissistic Personality Disorder, but maintained her opinion Ms. Stroup was medically stable and required no further treatment.  In her January 31, 2012 letter supporting Employer’s petition to compel Ms. Stroup’s photo and video images, Dr. Sheorn noted that while any differential diagnosis also involved ruling out schizophrenia, bipolar disorder and other similar “more serious disorders,”  those were clearly ruled out here and inapplicable in Ms. Stroup’s case.  In a further report on February 8, 2012, Dr. Sheorn continued to rule out PTSD in her diagnosis of Ms. Stroup, contradicting Dr. Ochberg’s opinion to the contrary.  In none of her several reports did Dr. Sheorn state she or any other mental health provider needed any further information to accurately diagnose Ms. Stroup beyond that already provided.  

Dr. Sheorn has never waivered in her opinions that Ms. Stroup does not now nor did she ever suffer PTSD, is medically stable, and requires no further treatment.  None of Dr. Sheorn’s numerous reports suggest she needs photo or videographic images in order to make an accurate psychiatric diagnosis of Ms. Stroup.  Nor has Dr. Ochberg opined any such evidence is necessary.  It is thus difficult to comprehend how any photographs or video images Ms. Stroup may possess of her activities since the injury would alter either Dr. Sheorn’s or Dr. Ochberg’s opinions.  At Employer’s request Ms. Stroup provided a list of her interstate travel not including physician appointments.
 The Board is aware, as was Dr. Sheorn, that Mr. and Mrs. Stroup’s post-injury travel included a cruise, arranged and paid for by Employer.  Photos and video images of that cruise, or of other activities in which Ms. Stroup may be shown to have engaged since the work injury, will not add to the board’s knowledge or assist in its determination whether Ms. Stroup suffered PTSD as a result of the work injury, and what treatment, if any, is appropriate.  

Employer has failed to convincingly demonstrate the photographic and video images it seeks are relevant to determining Ms. Stroup’s psychiatric diagnosis.  Employer’s petition to compel Ms. Stroup to release photographic and videotape images taken since the work injury will be denied.  

   3.
Should the identified medical records generated by Drs. Ochberg, Miller, Heniford, McGarry, Denton, Bramante, Strawbridge, and Jessie Arthur, M.A., be excluded from evidence unless Claimant makes them available for cross-examination?  Should the September 30, 2011 employment record authored by Stephen Givens, COO, be excluded unless Claimant makes him available for cross-examination? 

 
a)  Dr. Frank Ochberg’s medical records. 
Ms. Stroup has identified Dr. Ochberg as an expert witness.  Employer timely filed a request to cross-examine Dr. Ochberg with respect to his November 30, 2011 response to Claimant’s counsel’s letter requesting his opinions, and any and all other of Dr. Ochberg’s records pertaining to Ms. Stroup.   Reports and records of independent medical evaluators retained by litigants are not medical records or records prepared in the course of business admissible under exceptions to the hearsay rule.  Employer is entitled to cross-examine Claimant’s expert witness.  The law requires Claimant make Dr. Ochberg available for Employer to cross-examine, by either deposition or at hearing, if it seeks to admit Dr. Ochberg’s records into evidence. Commercial Union Companies v. Smallwood, 550 P.2d 1261 (Alaska 1976); 8 AAC 45.052.  

b)  Dr. Jeffrey Miller’s medical records. 

Dr. Miller is Ms. Stroup’s treating rheumatologist.  On February 2, 2012, Employer filed a Request for Cross-Examination, seeking to cross-examine Dr. Miller on “any and all records after 4/21/11,” noting it was a continuing request for cross-examination on any and all future records filed. Employer contends Dr. Miller was inappropriately influenced by a December 7, 2011 letter from Claimant’s counsel, thus transforming his treatment records from business records to records prepared solely for purposes of litigation.   At hearing Employer revised its request to cross-examine Dr. Miller with respect to medical records generated on or after December 7, 2011, the date of the letter Employer alleges unduly influenced Dr. Miller.  

Claimant deposed Dr. Miller on February 17, 2012.  Employer attended the deposition and exercised its right to cross-examine Dr. Miller.  Employer’s request to exclude Dr. Miller’s records until provided an opportunity to cross-examine him is now moot.  Employer’s petition to exclude Dr. Miller’s records will be denied.

c)   Dr. Todd Heniford’s medical records.

Dr. Heniford is Ms. Stroup’s treating abdominal surgeon.  On February 3, 2012, Employer filed a request for cross-examination of Dr. Heniford on “any and all records after 4/21/11,” noting it was a continuing request for cross-examination on any and all future records filed.  Employer contends Dr. Heniford was inappropriately influenced by the December 7, 2011 letter sent to him by Claimant’s counsel, thereby transforming Dr. Heniford’s treatment records into records prepared solely for purposes of litigation, upon which it has a right to cross-examine.   At hearing Employer revised its request to cross-examine Dr. Heniford with respect only to medical records generated on or after the December 7, 2011 letter Employer alleges unduly influenced Dr. Heniford.  

Employer cites no persuasive authority for its proposition that medical records generated for the purpose of diagnosis and treatment are transformed into litigation tools after the treating physician is contacted by a litigant’s attorney.  Moreover, Employer did not append to its pleadings any response from Dr. Heniford to the questionnaire, or cite a medical summary on which a response had been filed.  No response from Dr. Heniford to the questionnaire, which if Dr. Heniford rendered opinions might give rise to a right to cross-examine him, has been located in the case file.  Accordingly, there is no basis upon which to exclude Dr. Heniford’s treatment records from evidence.  Employer’s petition to exclude Dr. Heniford’s treatment records will be denied.

d)  Dr. Timothy McGarry’s medical records.

Dr. McGarry is Ms. Stroup’s treating orthopedic surgeon.  On February 3, 2012, Employer filed a request for cross-examination of Dr. McGarry on “any and all records after 4/21/11,” noting it was a continuing request for cross-examination on any and all future records filed.  Employer contends Dr. McGarry was inappropriately influenced by the December 7, 2011 letter sent to him by Claimant’s counsel, thereby transforming Dr. McGarry’s treatment records into records prepared solely for purposes of litigation, upon which it has a right to cross-examine.   At hearing Employer revised its request to cross-examine Dr. McGarry with respect only to medical records generated on or after the December 7, 2011 letter Employer alleges unduly influenced Dr. McGarry.  

As stated above, Employer cites no persuasive authority for its proposition that medical records generated for the purpose of diagnosis and treatment are transformed into litigation tools after the treating physician is contacted by a litigant’s attorney.  However, Dr. McGarry responded to counsel’s questionnaire.  He noted his previous opinion concerning Ms. Stroup’s ability to return to work, prepared in response to the rehabilitation specialist’s inquiry, was intended to be limited to his area of expertise, orthopedics.  He stated his opinion was not a general assessment of Ms. Stroup’s capabilities in light of all of her physical conditions and limitations, and did not include a professional assessment of the psychological impact of the shooting on Ms. Stroup and on her ability to return to work.  Dr. McGarry added:  “My comments were solely based on her orthopedic evaluation on that date.  I do not feel pt. will be able to return to previous employment in factoring all physical demands placed on pt.”  

Because Employer timely filed a request to cross-examine Dr. McGarry on this document, should Ms. Stroup intend for Dr. McGarry’s response to be admitted and considered in the board’s weighing of evidence for any future issue, Ms. Stroup will have to make Dr. McGarry available for cross-examination on this document.  Otherwise the document will be excluded.  Dr. McGarry’s treatment records, however, are admissible under AS 23.30.095(h), AS 23.30.135; 8 AAC 45.052, 8 AAC 45.120(k), and Alaska Rules of Evidence 803(3) and 803(6).  If Employer seeks to cross-examine Dr. McGarry on any future records, it must file a request for cross-examination in accord with 8 AAC 45.052(c)(5), which requires a request for cross-examination to specifically identify the document by date.

e)  Dr. James Denton’s medical record.

Dr. Denton is Ms. Stroup’s treating vascular surgeon in Abingdon, Virginia.  On February 3, 2012, Employer filed a request for cross-examination of Dr. Denton on “any and all records after 4/21/11,” noting it was a continuing request for cross-examination on any and all future records filed.  Employer contends Dr. Denton was inappropriately influenced by the June 14, 2011 letter sent to him by Claimant’s counsel, thereby transforming Dr. Denton’s medical treatment records into records prepared solely for purposes of litigation, upon which it has a right to cross-examine.   At hearing Employer revised its request to cross-examine Dr. Denton only with respect to medical records generated on or after the June 14, 2011 letter Employer alleges unduly influenced Dr. Denton. 

Again, Employer cites no persuasive authority for its proposition that medical records generated for the purpose of diagnosis and treatment are transformed into litigation tools after the treating physician is contacted by a litigant’s attorney.  Moreover, Employer did not append to its pleadings any response from Dr. Denton to the questionnaire, or cite a medical summary on which a response had been filed.  No response from Dr. Denton to the questionnaire, which if Dr. Denton rendered opinions might give rise to a right to cross-examine him, has been located in the case file.  Accordingly, there is no basis upon which to exclude Dr. Denton’s treatment records from evidence.  Employer’s petition to exclude Dr. Denton’s treatment records will be denied.

f)   Dr. John Bramante’s medical records. 

Dr. Bramante is Ms. Stroup’s treating internist in Soldotna, Alaska.  On November 8, 2011, Employer filed a request to cross-examine Dr. Bramante on his October 14, 2011 response to  counsel’s September 23, 2011 letter seeking Dr. Bramante’s opinions on a number of subjects.  Employer’s request to cross-examine Dr. Bramante on this document was timely, having been received after it was filed on an Employee Medical Summary on October 28, 2011.  Because Employer timely filed a request to cross-examine Dr. Bramante on this document, should Ms. Stroup intend for Dr. Bramante’s response to be admitted and considered in the board’s weighing of evidence for any future issue, Ms. Stroup will have to make Dr. Bramante available for cross-examination on this document.  Otherwise the document will be excluded.

On November 17, 2011, Employer filed a request to cross-examine Dr. Bramante on an August 4, 2011 letter he authored “to whom it may concern,” filed on an Employee Medical Summary on September 8, 2011.  The law requires a request for cross-examination for a physician record be filed within 10 days after service of an updated medical summary.  If a request for cross-examination is untimely, the right to cross-examine the physician on the document is waived.  Employer’s request to cross-examine Dr. Bramante on his August 4, 2011 letter was untimely and thus waived.  Dr. Bramante’s August 4, 2011 letter will be admitted without the need for Claimant to produce Dr. Bramante for cross-examination on the document.  This does not prevent Employer, however, from presenting Dr. Bramante’s testimony with respect to the August 4, 2011 record.  Employer’s petition to exclude this document is denied.

On February 3, 2012, Employer, filed a request for cross-examination of Dr. Bramante on “any and all records after 4/21/11,” noting it was a continuing request for cross-examination on any and all future records filed.  Employer contends that Dr. Bramante was inappropriately influenced by the September 23, 2011 letter sent to him by Claimant’s counsel, thereby transforming Dr. Bramante’s medical treatment records into records prepared solely for purposes of litigation, upon which it has a right to cross-examine.   At hearing Employer revised its request to cross-examine Dr. Bramante with respect only to medical records generated on or after the September 23, 2011 letter Employer alleges unduly influenced Dr. Bramante.  

As discussed above, Employer cited no persuasive authority for its proposition that medical records generated for the purpose of diagnosis and treatment are transformed into litigation tools after the treating physician is contacted by a litigant’s attorney.  With the exception of Dr. Bramante’s October 14, 2011 response to counsel’s letter, to which a timely Smallwood objection was raised, and Dr. Bramante’s August 4, 2011 letter, to which cross-examination was waived, Dr. Bramante’s treatment records are admissible under AS 23.30.095(h),  AS 23.30.135, 8 AAC 45.052, 8 AAC 45.120(k), and Alaska Rules of Evidence 803(3) and 803(6).  If Employer seeks to cross-examine Dr. Bramante on any future records, it must file a request for cross-examination in accord with 8 AAC 45.052(c)(5), and specifically identify by date the document upon which it seeks to cross-examine the treating physician. 

g)   Dr. Wendy Strawbridge’s medical records.

Dr. Strawbridge is Ms. Stroup’s primary care provider and gynecologist in Abingdon, Virginia.  On October 21, 2011, Employer filed a request to cross-examine Dr. Strawbridge on an October 9, 2011 letter she authored “to whom it may concern.”  In her letter Dr. Strawbridge summarized her treatment of Ms. Stroup before and after the work injury, contrasted Ms. Stroup’s overall health and physical capacities prior to the work injury with her diminished health following the injury, discussed medications she has prescribed for Ms. Stroup, the conditions those prescriptions were intended to address, and offered opinions concerning Ms. Stroup’s current state of health.  Employer’s request to cross-examine Dr. Strawbridge on this document was timely filed on October 21, 2011. 

Because Employer timely filed a request to cross-examine Dr. Strawbridge on this document, should Ms. Stroup intend for Dr. Strawbridge’s letter to be admitted and considered in the board’s weighing of evidence for any future issue, Ms. Stroup will have to make Dr. Strawbridge available for cross-examination on this document. 

h)   Jessie Arthur, M.A. “Orders Note.” 

Jessie Arthur, M.A., electronically signed an “Orders Note” on October 5, 2011.  The document contains no letterhead, or any identifying characteristics on its face other than the indication it was transmitted from Peninsula Internal Medicine to The Crofts Law Office on October 11, 2011.   Peninsula Internal Medicine is the physician group in Soldotna, Alaska, with which Dr. Bramante practices.  

On October 21, 2011, Employer timely filed a request to cross-examine Jessie Arthur on the October 5, 2011 “Orders Note.”  Because Employer’s request to cross-examine Jessie Arthur was timely, should Ms. Stroup intend for this “Orders Note” to be admitted and considered in the board’s weighing of evidence for any future issue, Ms. Stroup will have to make Jessie Arthur available for cross-examination on this document. 


i)  Stephen Givens, COO, Personnel File Addendum.

On September 30, 2011, Stephen Givens, COO for Johnston Memorial Hospital in Virginia, Ms. Stroup’s employer prior to her employment with CPH, authored an “Addendum to Personnel File, Margaret Stroup” pertaining to the circumstances of her terminating her employment there.  On October 4, 2011, Employer timely filed a Request for Cross-Examination of Mr. Givens on that document.  Because Employer’s request to cross-examine Mr. Givens was timely under 8 AAC 45.120(g), should Ms. Stroup intend that the “Addendum” be admitted and considered in the board’s weighing of evidence for any future issue, Ms. Stroup will have to make Mr. Givens available for cross-examination on this document. 

4.
Did Claimant waive any right to fees in excess of the statutory minimum fee by untimely filing her Supplemental Affidavit of Fees and Costs?
The law requires an affidavit supporting a request for an award of attorney fees and costs be filed at least three working days before hearing.  At the hearing itself, an attorney may supplement the affidavit by testifying about the hours expended and the extent and character of the work performed after the affidavit was filed.  According to the combined April 5, 9, 2012 prehearing conference summary, the issue of attorney fees potentially due Claimant was scheduled for hearing on April 18, 2012.  Claimant briefed this issue in her legal memorandum for that hearing and timely filed her attorney fees affidavit with her brief on April 13, 2012.  At the April 18, 2012 hearing the parties agreed the matter would be heard at a future time.  

The board elected to convene a prehearing conference on May 7, 2012 to establish the issues, if any, for a scheduled May 9, 2012 hearing, when the April 30, 2012 C & R rendered moot the COLA issue scheduled as the sole issue for that hearing.  At the prehearing conference it was agreed the May 9, 2012 would instead address the unresolved issue of attorney fees and costs. 

Since the prehearing conference establishing attorney fees as the issue for May 9 hearing was held only two days before the hearing, Claimant cannot be faulted for not filing her affidavit of fees and costs “three working days” before the hearing.  The issue of attorney fees was originally scheduled for hearing on April 18, 2012.  Claimant timely filed her initial affidavit of fees on April 13, 2012.  On April 18, the parties agreed attorney fees would not be heard as scheduled that date, so no supplemental affidavit or testimony was then due.  The supplemental affidavit filed at hearing on May 9, 2012 was timely filed since the regulations permit the initial fee affidavit be supplemented by the attorney testifying at the hearing about additional hours and work performed.  Here, through supplemental affidavit and sworn testimony this additional evidence was produced and thoroughly examined by Employer’s questioning both Eric Croft and Ms. Jones.  Counsel’s May 9, 2012 testimony and supplemental affidavit of time and costs satisfied the requirements of 8 AAC 45.180(d)(1).  Fees and costs sought and enumerated in the supplemental affidavit were not waived by Claimant.  

5.
What is an appropriate award of attorney fees and costs for Ms. Stroup’s counsel through the May 9, 2012 hearing date?

Where an employer resists payment of compensation or medical and related benefits, and a claimant employs an attorney who successfully prosecutes her claim, the board “shall” make an award of attorney fees and costs to the employee.  AS 23.30.145(b).  The fee award must be fully compensatory and reasonable, and must consider the contingency nature of representing injured workers, the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the resistance of the employer, the benefits resulting from the services obtained, the fee customarily charged in the locale for similar services, and the experience, reputation and ability of the lawyer performing the services.  8 AAC 45.180(d)(2).

In this case, Employer resisted both indemnity and medical and related issues.  As a result of her attorney’s efforts, in an August 15, 2011 stipulation, Employer agreed not to reduce Claimant’s TTD for a cost of living adjustment during the litigation.   On April 30, 2012, Ms. Stroup’s claim for PTD was also resolved in her favor through a partial C & R where Ms. Stroup will receive indemnity benefits for life, with no offset or reduction for social security or other benefits received.  The expected benefit of this award to Claimant, by Employer’s own estimation, exceeds one million dollars.  Claimant thus prevailed on the contested indemnity issues in this case and is entitled to receive full and reasonable fees and costs for her attorney’s efforts and expenditures in obtaining those benefits.  Since the disputed medical issues have yet to be resolved, attorney fees associated with obtaining medical benefits cannot be addressed or awarded until those issues are decided at the hearing scheduled in October.
The combined total for fees and costs sought by The Crofts Law office, itemized on the two affidavits of time and costs, and including an additional $1,200.00 for four hours of Eric’s Croft’s time at the May 9, 2012 hearing at a rate of $300.00 per hour, is $153,165.84.  
Employer raises numerous objections to the reasonableness of Claimant’s initial attorney fees and costs affidavit through a well-organized, understandable color-coded exhibit
 addressing each line item for services, and identifying the specific objection to each entry Employer opposes.  Employer’s objections to the fee affidavits will be addressed by category.  

a.  Should an award of attorney fees be reduced for alleged triplicate billings by the attorneys and paralegal?

On its “Analysis of Croft Law Office Fees,” coded in yellow, Employer objects to specific entries on the affidavit of fees, contending they reflect triple billing of tasks by attorneys Eric Croft, Chancy Croft and paralegal Patty Jones.  A review of these disputed entries, however, reflects that on not one occasion coded as reflecting triple billing did all three of the firm’s billable members bill for the same task. On only one occasion, April 21, 2011, two members, Eric Croft and Patty Jones, billed for a teleconference with Ms. Stroup.  This was Mr. Croft’s first contact with Ms. Stroup, according to the Affidavit, whose case had been vetted by Ms. Jones prior to acceptance.  This initial attorney conference with the client reasonably included the paralegal familiar with the client and case, and who would handle its paralegal aspects under Mr. Croft’s supervision.  While Chancy Croft did not bill for this conference, he conferred with  Eric Croft for a brief time on that date, likely of no more than 0.1 or 0.15 of an hour based on Chancy Croft’s other two entries that day.  This was not a contact of unreasonable duration given that both attorneys would be involved in prosecuting the claim.  No deductions will be taken for items allegedly “triple” billed.

b.  Should an award of attorney fees be reduced for alleged duplicate billings by the attorneys and paralegal?

Employer identifies in blue in its “Analysis” items it charges were inappropriately “double” billed.  It seeks a reduction in the fees requested of at least $12,180.00 for these items.  Here too, in large part, where one firm member notes he or she conferred with another, the conferee identified in the entry did not also bill for the conference.  Those occasions where both the paralegal and an attorney billed for a conference were of reasonable frequency and duration, where the law requires paralegals be supervised by an attorney.  Those conferences allowed the paralegal to perform work that might otherwise be performed by an attorney, at a substantially lower billing rate, thereby reducing overall litigation costs.  

Those occasions in which both of the Messrs. Croft appear to have billed for conferring with each other occurred on May 11, 2011, for 0.2 of an hour; May 12, 2011, for 0.2 of an hour; July 7, 2011, for 0.2 of an hour; September 22, 2011, for 1.0 hour; October 10, 2011, for 1.0 hour; December 13, 2011, for no more than 0.5 of an hour; January 24, 2011 for 0.1 of an hour; and January 27, 2011, for 0.2 of an hour, totaling approximately 3.4 hours based on the attorneys’ other entries in the original affidavit of fees for those dates.  The supplemental affidavit of fees identifies one occasion, May 7, 2012, where both attorneys appear to have each billed for the same conference for 0.1 of an hour.  A total of 3.5 hours where both attorneys billed for their conference time, in a case where the lead attorney’s overall hours exceed 300 over 13 months, is not unreasonable given the degree of injury Claimant suffered, the medical and legal complexity of this case, the tenacity of the attorneys for both litigants, the firm’s successful effort to forestall a COLA reduction during the pendency of the action, and ultimately an award of indemnity benefits for life, without offset.  Indeed the conferences where both attorneys billed involved complexities primarily arising during, after and as a result of the May, 2011 prehearing conference where CPH’s then CEO, Ryan Smith, expressed dissatisfaction with the attorney hired by the hospital’s workers’ compensation insurance carrier, necessitating multiple off-record conversations during the prehearing conference, and ultimately the withdrawal and substitution of counsel for the insurer and employer.  Time where both attorneys billed also involved settlement negotiations.  These conferences were not unreasonable in number or duration under the circumstances and fees will not be deducted for the 3.5 hours where both attorneys billed.

A clerical error does appear for Ms. Jones on July 6, 2011, where there are duplicate entries for the same effort.  A total of 0.1 hours will be deducted from Ms. Jones’ allowable time on this date.

c.  Should an award of attorney fees be reduced due to “inappropriate” contacts with Employer’s client, and other “inappropriate” work?

Employer identifies in brown ten dates on which it alleges Claimant’s counsel’s office engaged in inappropriate contacts with its client, questioned time billed for a telephone conversation with bar ethics counsel Steven Van Goor, and asserted Mr. Croft improperly billed for doing paralegal work.  Patty Jones credibly explained her May 2, 2011 effort to reach “Beverly” at “Liberty” was an effort to reach who Ms. Stroup believed was her assigned nurse case manager, not an insurance adjuster.  Ms. Jones’ testimony confirmed her entry reflected she only attempted to reach “Beverly,” was unsuccessful, and left a message which was not returned.  She persuasively testified that Mr. Croft’s May 13, 2011 telephone conversation with Ryan Smith, CPH’s CEO, was in response to Mr. Smith’s instruction to her at the May 12, 2011 prehearing conference, where it was evident Employer’s and insurer’s interests were then at odds, that he wanted “to talk to your office tomorrow.”  

Mr. Croft testified credibly his contacts with bar counsel Steve Van Goor were to ensure he was on solid ethical footing in his efforts to confer with attorney Paul Davis, who entered an appearance for Employer after the May 12, 2011 prehearing conference, after CEO Ryan Smith expressed displeasure with Liberty’s defense in this case.  Employer’s allegation that Mr. Croft’s contacts with Mr. Davis were an inappropriate contact with a represented client is misplaced.  Mr. Davis is an attorney, who at the time was representing CPH’s interests separate and apart from its representation by Liberty’s attorney.  This is an appropriate contact between attorneys, not an inappropriate contact between an attorney and an opposing party represented by counsel.   The allegations of inappropriate contact are unsubstantiated and time will not be reduced for them.  Although Employer objects to Mr. Croft’s May 19, 2011 entry “draft a timeline of surgeries and doctors” as an “attorney doing para work,” this allegation was not developed by Employer, and the panel will not second guess an attorney’s decision to perform necessary work. 

d. Should an award of attorney fees be reduced due to alleged “premature,”“unnecessary,” “unrelated, “non-billable,” “inappropriate” and “wasted time,” and where a paralegal billed time for clerical duties?

In green, Employer identifies entries it argues should be disqualified because they are  “premature,” “unnecessary,” “unrelated,” “non-billable,” “wasted time,” reflect counsel’s “inappropriate” contacts with Claimant’s physicians and where a paralegal allegedly billed time for clerical duties.  Employer is correct that it is premature for Claimant to bill Dr. Ochberg’s expert witness fee of $6,800.00.  Dr. Ochberg is an expert witness on the issue whether Claimant suffers PTSD as a result of the work injury.  This issue is unresolved and Claimant has not prevailed on it.  Dr. Ochberg’s expert witness fee will be disallowed at this time.  

Employer makes several other meritorious arguments in this category.  On January 25, 2012 and January 27, 2012, a total of 2.1 hours of time were billed as having been performed by Chancy Croft at $350.00 per hour, rather than by Eric Croft at a lower hourly rate.  At hearing these entries were established as those of Eric, not Chancy Croft, and will be allowed at Eric Croft’s, not Chancy Croft’s billing rate.  On February 22, 2012, Eric Croft billed 1.0 hour for attending an EME with Claimant.  Claimants are rarely accompanied to EME appointments by counsel, and no explanation was offered why Mr. Croft’s attendance was reasonably necessary at this appointment.  One hour of Mr. Croft’s time will be deducted for this effort.   On March 6, 2012, Ms. Jones billed 0.1 of an hour to calendar a prehearing conference.  Calendaring is a clerical, not a paralegal function, and 0.1 of an hour of Ms. Jones time will be deducted.  

Employer’s biggest objection in this category is to Mr. Croft’s time traveling to Tampa, Florida to conduct Dr. Miller’s deposition in early February, 2012, and the witness, court reporter and transcription costs attendant with that deposition.  Employer argues this expense was not reasonable because Mr. Croft could have conducted Dr. Miller’s deposition by telephone, and because travel time should be either unreimbursable or reimbursable at no more than one-half of an attorney’s billing rate.  

The law provides that costs incurred in making a witness available for cross-examination, costs of taking the deposition of a medical expert, court reporter fees and costs of obtaining deposition transcripts “will” in the board’s discretion be awarded to a successful applicant.  On November 9, 2011, and February 2, 2012, Employer filed Requests for Cross-Examination of Dr. Miller.  Claimant provided Employer that opportunity when it deposed Dr. Miller on February 17, 2012.  While Employer argues the deposition could have been conducted more cost-effectively by telephone, rather than in person, the Act requires the deposition testimony of a witness be taken according to the Rules of Civil Procedure.   Civil Rule 30(b)(7) requires a deposition be taken in person unless the parties stipulate in writing, or the court upon motion orders that the deposition may be taken by telephone.  Under the board’s regulations, a deposition may be taken telephonically only upon agreement of the parties or order of the board.  A deposition conducted telephonically is an exception to the customary method of examining witnesses.  

According to counsel’s affidavit, Mr. Croft left Anchorage on a red-eye flight the night of February 15, 2012, arriving Tampa the following day after 11 hours travelling.  On February 17, 2012, he met with his clients, prepared for and conducted Dr. Miller’s deposition, and conferred with Ms. Gabbert and mediator Janel Wright concerning the mediation scheduled in Seattle on February 21, 2012.   He met with his client for an hour on February 18, 2012, and on Sunday, February 19, 2012, flew from Tampa, arriving in Seattle after eight hours of travel.  On February 20, 2012 he again met with his client and her husband, conferred with his expert on life annuities and otherwise prepared for the mediation, which occurred the following day, and at which the indemnity issue, including Ms. Stroup’s PTD claim, were settled in Ms. Stroup’s favor.  He returned to Anchorage the evening of February 22, 2012, having been away from his office seven full days.

There is no suggestion, nor indication from the billing records, that Mr. Croft’s time away was for a purpose other than conducting Dr. Miller’s deposition and attending the Seattle mediation. The panel will not second guess an attorney’s decision to examine a witness in person rather than telephonically.  Dr. Miller’s deposition testimony reflects his steadfast assertion that Ms. Stroup’s Reiter’s Syndrome, or Reactive Arthritis, resulted from complications from surgeries necessitated by her work injury.  His testimony, while addressing an as yet unresolved medical issue, namely whether Ms. Stroup’s work injury, or medical care related to the work injury, was the substantial cause of her Reactive Arthritis, addressed also the debilitating symptoms of her Reactive Arthritis, and opined it prevented her from returning to regular employment, facts related to Ms. Stroup’s claim for PTD.   At the mediation two days later Ms. Stroup’s PTD claim was substantially resolved in her favor.  The board will not parse the time spent during Dr. Miller’s deposition between resolved indemnity issues and unresolved medical issues.  The fact remains, Dr. Miller testified definitively and persuasively Ms. Stroup’s Reactive Arthritis, which he attributes to infections arising from the surgeries necessitated by her work injuries, prevents her return to the regular work force.  

Mr. Croft’s time will not be reduced because he judged Dr. Miller’s testimony significant enough to conduct his deposition in person.  While Employer’s exhibit identifies Mr. Croft’s travel entries as “not billable,” Employer cites no authority for the proposition that attorney time spent traveling to or from a deposition or mediation is non-billable or allowable at only half an attorney’s regular billing rate.  Out of state travel removes the attorney from his office and his ability to conduct a normal billable work day.   Mr. Croft’s travel time to and from Tampa and Seattle will not be deducted or reduced to half of his normal billing rate.  

e.  Should an award of attorney fees be reduced for petitions on which Claimant did not prevail?  
Employer’s final category of objection to the fee affidavits, color-coded purple on Employer’s “Analysis” are for matters on which Employer contends Claimant did not prevail, and thus may not be awarded fees.  The disputed issues in this case fall into one of two categories:  (1) “disability,” specifically, what category of disability did Ms. Stroup suffer as a result of the work injury, and to what type and amount of indemnity benefits may she be entitled, and (2) “need for medical care,” specifically, what past and future medical needs were substantially caused by the work injury.  Based on the August 15, 2011 Stipulation, and the April 30, 2012 partial C & R, Ms. Stroup prevailed on the contested indemnity issues.  Neither party has yet prevailed on the issue of past and future disputed medical care, which remains unresolved and is scheduled for hearing in October.
Because Claimant has not prevailed on the medical issues, costs associated exclusively with Claimant’s efforts to obtain contested medical benefits must be disallowed.  These include Dr. Ochberg’s expert witness fee of $6,800.00, listed in the original affidavit of fees, his supplemental billing for $1,375.00, contained in the supplemental affidavit of time and costs, counsel’s contacts with Dr. Ochberg on November 8, 2011 (.6), November 15, 2011 (2.2), November 18, 2011 (3.7), November 30, 2011 (.3) and December 12, 2011 (1.5) totaling 8.3 hours, and Ms. Jones’ contact with Dr.  Ochberg on October 24, 2011 for 0.5 of an hour.   

Unreimbursable time expended exclusively on medical issues also include the firm’s unsuccessful efforts to block the EME with Dr. Keyhill Sheorn through unsuccessful petitions to quash the scheduled EME, and for reconsideration, efforts expended between September 15, 2011 and November 14, 2011.  For these unsuccessful efforts 33.9 hours of Eric Croft’s time, 1.5 hours of Chancy Croft’s time, and 9.0 hours of Ms. Jones’ time will be deducted.

However, Employer’s assertions Claimant’s time pursuing petitions for protective orders on  releases, for an emergency prehearing on the COLA issue, and for the issues addressed at the April 18, 2012 hearing  are not awardable because Claimant did not prevail on those issues is misplaced.  Claimant prevailed on the COLA issue, both through the parties’ interlocutory stipulation to not reduce TTD, and in the partial C & R resolving indemnity issues entirely.  The discovery issues the board designee addressed in November, 2011, were primarily resolved in Ms. Stroup’s favor as reflected in Finding of Fact 21 above.  The issues addressed at the April 18, 2012 hearing have with this decision been resolved substantially in Claimant’s favor.  Time will not be deducted for these issues. 

f.  Should the firm’s block billing be disallowed, and should Eric Croft’s billing rate be reduced?

Employer’s objection to the firm’s block billing method is also misplaced.  Block-billing has been endorsed by the Alaska Supreme Court for fee awards under Civil Rule 82.  Matanuska Elec. Ass’n v. Rewire the Board, 36 P.3d 685, 698 (Alaska 2001)(finding affidavit of counsel adequate to support attorney fee claim under Civil Rule 82).  And has been held compliant with and appropriate under the Act.  McKenna v. ARCO Alaska, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 12-0070 (April 9, 2012) at 60; Lawrence v. Channel Sanitation Corp., AWCB Dec. No. 97-0121 (May 30, 1997).

Finally, at oral argument on May 9, 2012, Employer argued Eric Croft’s hourly rate of $300.00 exceeded his level of expertise.  Mr. Croft did not explain why his billing rate in this case was $300.00 per hour in April, 2011 when he was billing at $275.00 to $285.00 per hour in other cases at that time.  Most recently, in Acevedo v. Nordstrom, AWCB Decision No. 12-0084 (May 9, 2012) at 47, Mr. Croft was awarded his billing rate of $285.00 for services rendered in 2011 and early 2012.   For the services Mr. Croft rendered during the same time frame in this case, Mr. Croft’s billing rate will be held at $285.00 per hour through the May 9, 2012 hearing date in this case.

Based on the foregoing, the following deductions will be taken from Claimant’s request for an award of attorney fees and costs totaling $153,165.84:


a)  $5,005.50 for the difference between the $300.00 per hour billing rate sought for Eric Croft’s services, and the $285.00 per hour awarded, over Eric Croft’s 333.7 total hours expended;


b)  $136.50 for the difference between Chancy Croft’s hourly billing rate of $350.00 and Eric Croft’s hourly billing rate of $285.00, for the 2.1 hours mistakenly attributed to Chancy Croft on January 25 and 27, 2012;  

c)  $15.00 for 0.1 of an hour of Ms. Jones’ time on July 6, 2011;


d)  $6,800.00 for Dr. Ochberg’s expert witness fee;


e)  $1,375.00 for Dr. Ochberg’s additional billing;


f)  $285.00 for an hour of Eric Croft’s time attending an EME with Claimant;


g)  $15.00 for 0.1 of an hour of Ms. Jones time on a clerical function on March 6, 2012;


h) $2,365.50 for 8.3 hours of Eric Croft’s contacts with Dr. Ochberg in November and December, 2011;


i)  $75.00 for one-half hour of Ms. Jones’ contact with Dr. Ochberg on October 24, 2011; 


j)  $9,661.50 for 33.9 hours of Eric Croft’s time for his unsuccessful efforts to quash the EME by Dr. Sheorn;


k) $ 525.00 for 1.5 hours of Chancy Croft’s time for his unsuccessful efforts to quash the EME by Dr. Sheorn;


l)  $1,350.00 for 9.0 hours of Ms. Jones’ time for her unsuccessful efforts to quash the EME by Dr. Sheorn.

Based on the foregoing, the sum of $27,609.00 will be deducted from Ms. Stroup’s request for  fees and costs.  The sum of $125,556.84 will be awarded for fees and costs incurred by The Croft Law Office through May 9, 2012.   
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1.
Employer will be ordered to return to Ms. Stroup medical records obtained which exceed the scope of the medical releases ordered, and which are not relevant to the medical issues presented for hearing.

2.
Ms. Stroup will not be compelled to release photographs and video recordings in her possession containing her image and reflecting her activities since the date of injury.

3.
Ms. Stroup will be required to produce Dr. Ochberg for cross-examination, at either deposition or hearing, in order for Dr. Ochberg’s records to be admitted into evidence. 

4.
Ms. Stroup will not be required to produce Dr. Heniford for cross-examination on medical records filed to date.  Dr. Heniford’s records filed to date will not be excluded from evidence.   

5.
Ms. Stroup will be required to produce Dr. McGarry for cross-examination, at either deposition or hearing, if she intends Dr. McGarry’s response to counsel’s December 7, 2011 letter and questionnaire be admitted into evidence.  Dr. McGarry’s treatment records filed to date will not be excluded.

6.
Ms. Stroup will not be required to produce Dr. Denton for cross-examination on medical records filed to date.  Dr. Denton’s records filed to date will not be excluded from evidence.   

7.
Ms. Stroup has made Dr. Miller available for cross-examination.  Dr. Miller’s October 19, 2011 Consultation Note, and all of his records filed to date, will be admitted without further cross-examination.

8.
Ms. Stroup will be required to produce Dr. Bramante for cross-examination of his October 14, 2011 response to counsel’s September 23, 2011 letter, at either deposition or hearing, if she intends Dr. Bramante’s October 14, 2011 response be admitted into evidence.  Ms. Stroup will not be required to produce Dr. Bramante for cross-examination on his August 4, 2011 letter, or on Dr. Bramante’s other medical records filed to date.   With the exception of Dr. Bramante’s October 14, 2011 response, Dr. Bramante’s records filed to date will not be excluded from evidence.   

9.
Ms. Stroup will be required to produce Dr. Strawbridge for cross-examination, at either deposition or hearing, if she intends Dr. Strawbridge’s October 9, 2011 letter be admitted into evidence.  Dr. Strawbridge’s treatment records filed to date will not be excluded.

10.
Ms. Stroup will be required to produce Jessie Arthur, M.A. for cross-examination, at either deposition or hearing, if she intends Jessie Arthur’s October 5, 2011“Orders Note” be admitted into evidence.

11.
Ms. Stroup will be required to produce Stephen Givens, COO, for cross-examination, at either deposition or hearing, if she intends Mr. Givens’ September 30, 2011 “Addendum to Personnel File” be admitted into evidence.

12.
In order to accommodate the parties’ respective efforts to schedule deposition testimony, both parties will be required to simultaneously file and serve their witness lists for the October 23-24, 2012 hearing no later than September 20, 2012.  

13.
Claimant did not waive any right to fees in excess of the statutory minimum fee. 

14.
Attorney fees and costs will be awarded in the amount of $125,556.84.

ORDER

1.
Claimant’s petition for return of medical records outside the scope of releases is granted. 

2.
Within 15 days of the date of this order, Employer shall identify by date and source each and every medical record in its possession not yet filed on a medical summary.  For each such medical record identified, Employer shall return the record to Claimant, including all copies in its possession, and shall file with the board an itemized list of all such records, accompanied by an Affidavit of Compliance with this order.  

3.
Within 20 days of the date of this order, Claimant shall identify each and every medical record previously filed on a Medical Summary it believes is unrelated to the issues in this case and for which it seeks the board’s return to Claimant.  Claimant shall identify the document by date, provider, Medical Summary on which it is contained, and a concise explanation of the reason it believes the document is not relevant to the matters at issue in this case.  Within 10 days thereafter, Employer may file a concise written objection, if any, it may have to removal of documents Claimant has identified.  

4.
Claimant’s petition for sanctions for abuse of medical records releases is denied.

5.
Employer’s petition to compel Ms. Stroup’s release of photographs and video recordings in her possession containing her image and reflecting her activities since the date of injury is denied.

6.
Claimant shall make Dr. Ochberg available for cross-examination, by deposition or at hearing, for Dr. Ochberg’s records to be admitted. 

7.
Employer’s petition to produce Dr. Heniford for cross-examination or exclude his medical records is denied.  Dr. Heniford’s records filed to date are admitted.

8.
Claimant shall make Dr. McGarry available for cross-examination, by deposition or at hearing, in order for Dr. McGarry’s response to counsel’s December 7, 2011 letter and questionnaire to be admitted.  The remainder of Dr. McGarry’s records filed to date are admitted.

9.
Employer’s petition to produce Dr. Denton for cross-examination or exclude his medical records is denied.  Dr. Denton’s records filed to date are admitted.

10.
Employer’s petition to produce Dr. Miller for cross-examination or exclude his medical records is denied as moot.  Dr. Miller’s records filed to date are admitted.

11.
Claimant shall make Dr. Bramante available for cross-examination, by deposition or at hearing, in order for Dr. Bramante’s October 14, 2011 response to counsel’s September 23, 2011 letter to be admitted.  The remainder of Dr. Bramante’s records filed to date are admitted.

12.
Claimant shall make Dr. Strawbridge available for cross-examination, by deposition or at hearing, in order for Dr. Strawbridge’s October 9, 2011 letter to be admitted.  The remainder of Dr. Strawbridge’s records filed to date are admitted.

13.
Claimant shall make Jessie Arthur, M.A. available for cross-examination, by deposition or at hearing, in order for Jessie Arthur’s October 5, 2011 “Orders Note” to be admitted.  

14.
Claimant shall make Stephen Givens, COO available for cross-examination, by deposition or at hearing, in order for Mr. Givens’ September 30, 2011 “Addendum to Personnel File” to be admitted.  

15.
Employer shall pay attorney fees and costs to The Crofts Law Office in the amount of  $125,556.84.

DATED in Anchorage, Alaska this 14 day of June, 2012.



ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD



_________________________________



Linda M. Cerro, Designated Chair



_________________________________


                                           
Amy Steele, Member



_________________________________


                                           
Arylis Scates, Member

If compensation is payable under the terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission.

If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom the compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the board a supplementary order of default. 

Final Orders are subject to the following appeal procedures:

APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127.

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128.

                                                           RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.  

Interlocutory Orders are subject to the following review procedures:

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Under Monzulla v. Voorhees Concrete Cutting, 254 P.3d 341 (Alaska 2011), a party may seek review of an interlocutory or other non-final board decision and order.  Within 10 days after service of the board’s decision and order a party may file with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission a petition for review of the interlocutory or other non-final board decision and order.  The commission may or may not accept a petition for review and a timely request for relief from the Alaska Supreme Court may also be required.

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final and Interlocutory Decision and Orders in the matter of MARGARET STROUP employee/applicant; v. CENTRAL PENINSULA GENERAL HOSPIAL, employer; LIBERTY MUTUAL MIDDLE MARKET  and LIBERTY NORTHWEST INSURANCE CORPORATION, insurer/defendants; Case No. 200819837; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, on June 14, 2012.






______________________________

                                   

Anna Subeldia, Office Assistant I
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� A “Smallwood objection” is an objection to the introduction into evidence of written medical reports in place of direct testimony by a physician . . . 8 AAC 45.900(a)(11).


� Dorland’s Illustrated Medical Dictionary, Twenty-fifty Edition, (1974), defines “dyspnea” as “difficult or labored breathing.”


� Gunshot wound.


� Critogenic is defined as “Caused by legal process or by the legal system.”  http://www.behavenet.com/critogenic#301.


� Iatrogenic is defined as “resulting from the activity of physicians.  Originally applied to disorders induced in the patient by autosuggestion based on the physician’s examination, manner, or discussion, the term is now applied to any adverse condition in a patient occurring as the result of treatment by a physician or surgeon.”  Dorland’s Illustrated Medical Dictionary, Twenty-fifth Edition (1974).


� Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition, Text Revision.


� Issues pertaining to sleep apnea and related conditions from 2000 to present were not addressed by the parties or designee.


� Employer Affidavit of Service, filed December 13, 2011.


� The fee award hereunder is based on the factors enumerated in the Act and regulations.  Mr. Schneider’s affidavit and testimony were accorded no weight in this analysis.


� Exhibit K to Employer’s Brief for April 18, 2012 Hearing on Procedural Issues and Attorney’s Fees and Costs, filed April 13, 2012, and Exhibits A and B, titled “Analysis of Croft Law Office Fees,” to Employer’s Hearing Brief on Employee’s Claim for Attorney Fees and Costs up to April 18, 2012, for the Hearing on May 9, 2012, filed May 2, 2012.  
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